IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1-1-2006

Influence of radiation encountered on Mars missions on the yield and quality of soymilk and tofu from bulk soybeans

Chiew-Ling Chia Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd

Recommended Citation

Chia, Chiew-Ling, "Influence of radiation encountered on Mars missions on the yield and quality of soymilk and tofu from bulk soybeans" (2006). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 19382. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/19382

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



Influence of radiation encountered on Mars missions on the yield and quality of soymilk and tofu from bulk soybeans

by

Chiew-Ling Chia

A thesis submitted to the graduate faculty

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major: Food Science and Technology

Program of Study Committee: Lester A. Wilson, Major Professor Cheryll A. Reitmeier Manjit K. Misra

Iowa State University

Ames, Iowa

2006

Copyright © Chiew-Ling Chia, 2006. All rights reserved.

Graduate College Iowa State University

This is to certify that the master's thesis of

Chiew-Ling Chia

has met the thesis requirements of Iowa State University

Signatures have been redacted for privacy

Signatures have been redacted for prive

Dedicated to the memory of my grandfather, Chia Ser Teik.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	v
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	
Soybeans and Composition	3
Health Benefits of Soy	6
Consumption of Soyfoods	8
Soymilk and Tofu Production	9
Soybeans as Astronauts' Food	10
Food Irradiation as a step in the Hazard Analysis Critical Control	10
Point (HACCP) System	12
Effects of Irradiation on Food Safety and Quality	15
Effects of Irradiation on Seed Germination	17
Flavor and Aromas of Soyfoods	18
Lipoxygenase and Lipid Oxidation	21
Antioxidant in Soybeans	24
Appearance and Textural Quality of Soyfoods	26
CHAPTER 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	32
Proximate Analysis	33
Vitamin E Analysis	33
Isoflavone Analysis	34
Antioxidant Capacity	34
Thiobarbituric Acid (TBA), Peroxide and Free Fatty Acids (FFA) Analyses	35
Microbial Analysis	37
Germination Study	37
Sovmilk and Tofu Manufacture	38
Yield Calculation	39
Color Analysis using Hunter Labscan XE	39
Viscosity Measurement	40
Texture Analysis	40
Flavor Analysis by Gas Chromatography (GC)	41
Statistical Analysis	43
CHAPTER 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	44
Proximate Analysis	44
Vitamin E Analysis	46
Isoflavone Analysis	46
Antioxidant Capacity	48
Thiobarbituric Acid (TBA), Peroxide and Free Fatty Acids (FFA)	
Analyses	49

Microbial Analysis	54
Germination Study	55
Water Absorption	61
Sovmilk and Tofu Yield	63
Color Analysis of Whole Soybeans, Soymilk, Tofu, Okara and Whey	00
Color of Whole Sovbeans	65
Color of Soymilk	67
Color of Tofus	70
Color of Okara	72
Color of Whey	74
Rheological Effects in Soymilk and Textural Changes in Tofus	
Effect of Irradiation on Viscosity of Soymilk	77
Effect of Irradiation on Texture of Tofus	82
Flavor and Aroma Analysis by Gas Chromatography	85
CHAPTER 5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	
Summary	91
Conclusions	94
REFERENCES CITED	96
APPENDIX A: STATISTICAL ANALYSIS (P-VALUE)	114
APPENDIX B: PROTEIN ANALYSIS	119
APPENDIX C: FLAVOR ANALYSIS	120
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	131

ABSTRACT

Soybeans were chosen for lunar and planetary missions, where soybeans will be supplied in bulk or grown locally, due to their nutritive value and ability to produce oil and protein for further food applications. However, soybeans must be processed into foods prior to consumption. Radiation that soybeans would be exposed to during bulk storage prior to and during a Mars mission may influence their germination and functional properties. The influence of radiation includes the affect of surface pasteurization to ensure the astronauts' safety from food-borne illnesses (HACCP, CCP), and the effect of the amount of radiation the soybeans receive during a Mars mission. Decreases in the amount of natural antioxidant, free radical formation, and oxidation-induced changes in the soybean will influence the nutritional value, texture, color, and aroma of soyfoods. The objective of this study was to determine the influence of pasteurization surface radiation on whole soybeans using electron beam radiation. The influence of 0, 1, 5, and 10 kGy on microbial load, germination rate, ease of processing, and quality of soymilk and tofu were determined. Surface radiation of whole dry soybeans using electron beam from 1-10 kGy did provide microbial safety for the astronauts. However, the lower dose levels had surviving yeasts and molds. These doses caused oxidative changes that resulted in soymilk and tofu with rancid aromas. GC-MS of the aroma compounds using SPME Headspace confirmed the presence of lipid oxidation compounds. Soybean germination ability was reduced as radiation dosage increased. While lower doses may reduce these problems, the ability to insure microbial safety of bulk soybeans will be lost. Counter measures could include vacuum packaging, nitrogen flushing, adding antioxidants, and radiating under freezing conditions. Doses below 1 kGy need to be

investigated further to determine the influence of the radiation encountered during Mars missions.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Food safety and security have always been of concern and it is even more so after September 11, 2001. The Office of Homeland Security has encouraged the United State Department of Agriculture to increase food protection against bioterrorism (Rawson 2003; Nabhan 2003). Safety of foodborne illness microorganisms and pathogens are highly priorities for both Homeland Security and NASA. Soybeans were chosen by NASA for lunar and planetary missions due to their nutritive value and their ability to produce oil and protein for further food applications. However, soybeans must be processed into foods prior to astronauts' consumption. Long-term storage of soybeans during Mars missions may result in degradation of soybeans through radiation induced oxidation reactions and deterioration of composition over storage time. Oxidative stress can influence the antioxidant level in the food, its shelf life, and the quantity and quality of food produced. Surface radiation of whole dry soybeans using electron beam or gamma rays at 10 or 30 kGy provided microbial safe food for the astronauts, but caused oxidative changes that resulted in unacceptable quality of soymilk and tofu with rancid aromas, darker color, lower tofu yields, more solid waste, pastelike okara, and loss of seed germination ability compared to the non-irradiated seeds and their products, which could be a problem if they are to be grown on Mars (Wilson and others 2005). Therefore, lower doses were suggested in reducing these problems. This study, funded by Wilson's NASA Directors Grant, is to determine the following hypotheses: Hypothesis 1: Radiation as a Critical Control Point (CCP) and storage conditions, prior to and during transit to Mars, interact to decrease the amount of natural antioxidants in the soybean, induce lipid oxidation and decrease the yield and quality of soybeans. Hypothesis 2: Radiation at 1, 5, 10 kGy will alter the germination rate of the soybeans. Gamma-irradiation at similar dose levels had shown increase in soymilk and tofu yield, and had minimal effect on their quality (Byun and Kang 1995). The objective of this research is to establish if the Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point (HACCP) CCP step of irradiating whole soybeans at 1, 5, 10 kGy using electron beam affects microbial load, antioxidant potential, seed germination, yield and quality of soymilk and tofu.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

SOYBEANS AND COMPOSITION

Soybean, *Glycine max* (L.), belongs to the family Leguminosae. It originated in northern China and it was cultivated as early as 5000 years ago (Wang 1997). Soybeans had been transformed into various types of soyfoods including soymilk, tofu, soy sprouts, soy paste and soy sauce by the Chinese. It was later brought to Japan, Korea, and other Far East countries about 1,100 years ago, and then to Europe and North America in the 18th century (Liu 2004a). In 1954, the United States became the world leader soybean production producing 40% of total production, followed by Brazil (24%), Argentina (18%), China (8%) and India (3%) (Liu 2004a; Soyatech, Inc. 2004).

Soybean is a good rotational crop due to its nitrogen fixing ability and adaptability to wide range of soils and climate. It produces more edible protein per acre of land than other crops due to its high protein content (approximately 40% protein, 20% oil, 35% carbohydrates and 5% ash on dry basis). It has the highest protein content comparing to cereal and other legume species, and the second-highest oil content among all food legumes. Soybeans are widely used as human food, animal feed and industrial material. The majority of soybeans are crushed into oil for food uses and defatted meal for animal feed uses. Only a small fraction is processed for direct human consumption including various soyfoods and soy-based ingredients [soy flour, soy concentrate, soy isolate, soy nuts, soy isoflavone (germ) and more] (Soyatech, Inc. 2004).

Soybean oil contains more than 99% triglycerides with high proportion of unsaturated fatty acids (approximately 85%). It is a good source of two essential fatty acids that cannot be synthesized in human body: linoleic and linolenic acids, where the latter is also an omega-3 fatty acid (Liu 2004a). Hence, it has been shown that mono- and polyunsaturation in soybean oil is beneficial to human health due to its cholesterol lowering effects (Martin and others 1986; Chow 1992). Table 1 shows the average and ranges of the fatty acid profile in soybean oil including oil from the new low linoleic soybean cultivar (~1% C18:3). Minor components present also include phospholipids, unsaponifiable materials (such as tocopherols, phytosterols, and hydrocarbons), free fatty acids and trace metals.

T-1.1 1	T-44				· 1	11	
I anie I	Fatty	acid	compos	11100001	sovnean	011	extracted
T aore 1	. I utty	uoru	compos.	inon or	. oo yooun	UII	ontituotou.

Fatty Acid Profile	Range	Average
Palmitic acid (C16:0)	4-23%	11%
Stearic acid (C18:0)	3-30%	4%
Oleic acid (C18:1)	25-86%	24%
Linoleic acid (C18:2)	25-60%	53%
Linolenic acid (C18:3)	1-15%	7%

Source: Liu 2001; Hammond and Glatz 1988.

The major storage proteins in soybeans are globulins with two major proteins: glycinin, an 11S fraction, and β -conglycinin, a 7S fraction. Both fractions account for approximately 70% of the total storage protein in soybeans (Nielsen 1985; Nishizawa and others 1994). Glycinin, the major seed storage protein in most varieties (>50%), is composed of one acidic and one basic polypeptide connected by disulphide linkages while β - conglycinin is composed of α , α ' and β -subunits but lacks disulphide linkages. Both of these protein subunits play important role in the quality of soyfoods.

Both water-soluble and fat-soluble vitamins are found in soybeans. The water-soluble vitamins include thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, pantothenic acid and folic acid while the fatsoluble vitamins include vitamin A and E (no vitamins D and K present). Water-soluble vitamins are lost during processing of soybeans such as tofu making. Ascorbic acid (Vitamin C) and Vitamin A, present as β -carotene, in mature soybeans is essentially negligible, but a measurable amount is present in immature and germinated beans (Bates and Matthews 1975). Vitamin E, the most sensitive fat-soluble vitamin, is present in four isomers: α -, β -, γ -, δ -tocopherols (Figure 1) (Knapp and Tappel 1961, Jiang and others 2001). Guzman and Murphy (1986) found that the concentration of different tocopherol isomers varies depending on the soybean cultivar (data reported as range of different soybean variety in Table 2). Even though 30-47% of vitamin E is loss during processing of soybeans into tofu, tofu is still considered a greater source of vitamin E than whole soybeans on a dry basis (Pryde 1980; Guzman and Murphy 1986).



Figure 1. Chemical structure of vitamin E (tocopherols) in soybeans (Source: Jiang and others 2001).

Component	Range ($\mu g/g$)
a-tocopherol	10.9-28.4
β -tocopherol	less than 3% of total
γ -tocopherol	150-190
δ -tocopherol	24.6-72.5

Source: modified after Pryde 1980; Guzman and Murphy 1986.

Other major constituents of interest in soybeans include soy lecithin (0.5-1.5% of soybean seed), isoflavones (0.1-0.4% dry weight of soybeans), soy saponins, phytosterols (approximately 0.3-0.6mg/g of soybeans), phytate (1-1.7% dry basis), trypsin inhibitors, lectins or hemagglutinins and lunasin, a natural bioactive peptide in soybeans (Liu 2004a; Lolas 1976; Wang and Wixon 1999).

HEALTH BENEFITS OF SOY

Soy protein is low in sulfur-containing amino acids, but it does contain all 11 of the essential amino acids required for human or animal nutrition, including isoleucine, leucine, lysine, methionine, cysteine, phenylalanine, tyrosine, threonine, tryptophan, valine, and histidine (Zarkadas and others 1993). It is rated the highest *protein digestibility-corrected amino acid score* (PDCAAS) possible among plant proteins (PDCAAS=0.91) (Liu 2004a). Due to its comparable protein quality to cow's and human milk protein (PDCAAS=1.21), soymilk is an alternative choice for lactose-intolerant patients and good substitution for animal source proteins (Liu 2004b; Quak and Tan 1998; Schaafsma 2000).

Soy protein is also cholesterolemic. It is highly effective in lowering total cholesterol as well as low-density lipoprotein (LDL) by increasing the high-density lipoprotein (HDL) (Anderson and others 1995). This has been shown in various studies as well as meta-analysis, which confirmed that soy protein lowers blood cholesterol concentrations in both animals and human (Anderson and others 1995; Hamilton and others 1976; Sirtori and others 1997). Therefore, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved a health claim, for qualified soy products, that diets low in saturated fat and cholesterol that included 25g of soy protein a day may reduce the risk of heart disease (FDA 1999). Other active components including amino acids, isoflavones, saponins, phytic acid, trypsin inhibitors, fiber, and globulins may also contribute to the cholesterol lowering effect. Studies also have shown that soy protein plays significant role in lowering risk of cardiovascular disease, preventing hypertriglyceridemia, hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycemia and impaired renal function as well as decreasing urinary calcium excretion (Watkins and other 1985; Erdman 2000; Spence and others 2002; Stephenson and others 2002; Moriyama and others 2004).

Soy lecithin, the main by-product of soybean oil refining, is an important source of choline, which regulates signaling functions and structural integrity of cells. Lecithin helps to lower cardiovascular disease risk, prevent abnormal fetal development, reduce some forms of male infertility, promote healthy liver function, improve in memory and cognition, reduce adverse reactions to various drugs, as well as decrease risk of coronary heart disease and stroke by reducing plasma homocysteine levels (Zeisel and Blusztain 1994; Wald and others 1998; Liu 2004a). Studies also showed that consumption of soyfoods helps in preventing and treating chronic diseases, and reducing incidence of breast, colon, and prostate cancers, heart disease, osteoporosis, and possibly menopausal symptoms (Anderson and others 1995; Kennedy 1995; Barnes 1998; Setchell and Cassidy1999).

7

Soybeans have been consumed as food for thousands of years. They are traditionally consumed in a variety of soyfoods such as tofu, soy sauce, miso, soy sprouts and vegetable soybeans (Liu 2004b). Production of soybeans continues to grow to meet the market demand, and they have reached 57% of the total world oilseed production. The United States contributed to approximately 40% of the world soybean production in 2004 (Soy StatsTM 2005). Nowadays, soybeans have been transformed into various edible soy products for both human consumptions and animal feed, which are categorized as soy oil products, soy protein products, modern soyfoods, soy-enriched foods and soy dietary supplements and nutraceuticals by Liu (2004a) (Table 3).

Category	Product Examples			
Traditional soyfoods	 Non-fermented soyfoods soymilk, tofu, soymilk film (yuba), okara, soybean sprouts, vegetable soybeans (edemame) Fermented soyfoods 			
	• Fermented soy paste, soy sauce, Japanese Natto, tempeh, sufu, soy nuggets			
Soy oil products	Salad and cooking oils, shortening, margarine, mayonaise, salad dressings, confectionery coatings.			
Soy protein products	Soy flour, soy protein concentrate, soy protein isolate, textured soy proteins			
Modern soyfoods	Soy ice-cream, soy yogurts, soy cheese, soy burgers, meatless meatballs, imitation bacon bites, soy butter, soy puddings, tofu spreads and dressings			
Soy-enriched foods	Soy bread, soy pastas, soy cereal, soy snacks, soy-enriched bakery products (muffins, pancakes, cookies, etc.)			
Functional soy ingredients/ dietary supplements	Soy lecithin, oligosaccharides, isoflavones, tocopherols, phytosterols, trypsin inhibitors			

Table 3. Variety of soyfoods in the current market.

Source: Liu 2004b.

SOYMILK AND TOFU PRODUCTION

Soymilk, a water extract from soybeans, and tofu, soybean curd, is believed to have originated in China and is made through the traditional thousand-year-old home-scale method (traditional Chinese method) (Liu 2004b). Different methods have been used in soymilk and tofu manufacturing to improve the flavor (reduce beaniness) of the soymilk. The traditional Chinese method, and newer methods that reduce the beany flavor of soy such as Japanese, Cornell, Illinois, Rapid Hydration HydroThermal Cooking (RHHTC), coldgrind under vacuum (ProSoya), deodorization, antioxidant addition and alkali treatment methods had been developed (Wilson 1995; Prawiradjaja 2003). The traditional Japanese method of soymilk and tofu making (Figure 2) varies from the traditional Chinese method in that the soymilk is separated from the okara before heating in the traditional Chinese method. The heating step after grinding in the traditional Japanese method is critical to inactivate enzymes such as lipoxygenase in raw soybeans, thus producing less beany soymilk. Soymilk is then further processed into tofu by coagulating the soy proteins using coagulants such as calcium sulfate, glucono-delta-lactone (GDL) or magnesium chloride (Watanabe and others 1964; Liu 2004b).



Figure 2. Traditional Japanese Method for Soymilk and Tofu Manufacturing

SOYBEANS AS ASTRONAUTS' FOOD

Since the first space mission of the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), food for astronauts has been studied and improved to provide better nutrition, increase the variety of foods, and make them easier to consume. Duration of space missions

10

range from one or two weeks to years if permanent bases are to be set up on Mars (Karel 1989). It is increasingly important as the missions became longer that the astronauts should consume safe, palatable, healthy, and high quality food. Hence, research and development of space food and processing methods have been actively conducted to improve the safety, shelf-life and variety of space food (Nanz and others 1967; Klicka and Smith 1982; Barta and others 1999; Zasypkin and Lee 1999; Perchonok and others 2001; Toerne and others 2001; Wilson and others 2005). Implementation of the Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point (HACCP) system for the space food program started with the Gemini program (1965 to 1966) (Perchonok and Bourland 2002). Application of radiation to space food started with the Apollo program (1968-1972), where the first irradiated food was consumed by the Apollo astronauts. It has been suggested that a HACCP, CCP step be used to ensure the food safety of astronauts (Bourland and others 2000; Perchonok and Bourland 2002; Wilson and others 2005). Foods can be pasteurized or sterilized through exposure to ionizing radiation. Increasing the variety of irradiated food is continuously being studied. The use of irradiation at 10-50kGy to sterilize frozen, packaged meats, including beefsteaks, was approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for use in NASA's space flight program in 1995 (FDA 1995: Crawford and Ruff 1996).

As space missions get longer, it has been suggested that crops be grown in the permanent base for (1) substitution of prepackaged food with ingredients processed from harvested crops in the future as well as (2) their contribution to bioregeneration of oxygen and carbon dioxide (Barta and Henninger 1994). Due to soybeans' high nutrient content, it has been chosen as one of the crops food for the Lunar and Mars missions. It can be processed into soy flour, tofu, tempeh, soymilk, whey, okara and soybean oil in space.

However, more efforts in design and development of food-processing procedures and equipment for conversion of crops into bulk ingredients, such as the STOW (Soymilk, Tofu, Okara, Whey) processor prototype for soybeans, need to be investigated to fully utilize the crops (Perchonok and Bourland 2002; Wilson and others 2004b).

FOOD IRRADIATION AS A STEP IN THE HAZARD ANALYSIS CRITICAL CONTROL POINT (HACCP) SYSTEM

Application of ionizing radiation in food to ensure quality and shelf life has existed since the late 1800s according to Josephson (1983) and Diehl (1990b). The history of radiation started with discovery of X-rays by Roentgen in 1895 followed by observation of radiation effects on microorganisms by Pracronotti and Procelli in 1898. Extensive research on the influences of ionizing radiation on different foods and the development of accelerator machines followed these findings. In 1958, the United States Food Additives Amendment to the FDCA act defined food irradiation as an 'additive'. Laws and regulations on food irradiation were established to monitor applications of ionizing radiation on foods (Molins 2001). In 1980, the Joint Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)/International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA)/ World Health Organization (WHO) Expert Committee on Food Irradiation (JECFI) declared that "irradiation of any food up to an average dose of 10kGy pose no toxicological hazards to humans, no special nutritional or microbiological problems in foods" (Anonymous 1981; Ahmad 1995; Crawford and Ruff 1996; Molins 2001). This safe and acceptable dose level has been shown to be effective in various applications including delay or accelerate ripening, delay aging, enhance shelf-life, control microbial load, destroy insect infestation, eliminate unwanted sprouting, and sometimes improve flavor and

texture of foods without imparting any radioactivity to the food. Due to the effectiveness of radiation in food prevention and controlling microbial contamination, the WHO declared that radiation is "a powerful tool against preventable food losses and foodborne illnesses" (Ahmad 1995; Crawford and Ruff 1996).

In 1997, due to the concern on the wholesomeness of food irradiated at 10 kGy and above, the joint Study Group on High Dose Food Irradiation reviewed data on high-dose food irradiation (10-100 kGy) and concluded that food treated with doses greater than 10 kGy can be considered safe and nutritionally adequate when produced under established Good Manufacturing Practices (GMPs). This is due to the fact that radiation at the levels will not lead to changes in the food composition and nutrient loss that would cause adverse effect on human health but would greatly reduce any potential microbiological risk to consumers (WHO 1999). Application of radiation to foods at three different dose ranges is shown in Table 4: low dose, medium dose and high dose radiation levels (Ahmad 1995; Crawford and Ruff 1996).

Cobalt-60 or caesium-137 and machine sources of electrons up to 10MeV and X-rays from electrons up to 5 MeV are the only radiation sources that are accepted as a Codex Alimentarius General Standard for food irradiation (WHO 1999). Table 5 shows the comparison of these three different sources of radiation (Deeley 2004).

Different types of radiation (Gamma, X-ray, E-beam, etc) may have different effects on the food depending on the dosage as well as the food matrix (Tables 4 and 5). Gamma rays are obtained from the decay of ⁶⁰Co, while electrons are generated by high energy electron beam accelerators. Both differ greatly in their ability to penetrate matter: gamma rays exhibit much higher penetration than electron beams (Cleland and Pageau 1985; Blank

Table 4. Levels of radiation subjected to food applications.

Level of radiation	Radiation dosage	Applications	Examples
Low dose application (disinfestation/ delay in ripening)	< 1 kGy	Inhibit sprouting in potatoes, onions, etc. Allow long-term storage Cause disinfestation by insects, etc. in pulses, cereal grains, dried fruits Destroy parasites in foods, e.g. nematods (Trichinella) in pork Delay other physiological processes	Potatoes, onions, garlic, root ginger, bananas, mangoes, and certain other non-citrus fruit, cereals and pulses, dehydrated vegetables, dried fish and meat, fresh pork
Medium dose application (pasteurization)	1-10 kGy	Reduce or eliminate spoilage bacteria, moulds and yeast, improve keeping properties Reduce pathogenic organisms such as Salmonella and Listeria.	Fresh fish, strawberries, grapes, dehydrated vegetables, fresh or frozen seafood, raw or frozen poultry and meat
High dose application (sterilization)	10-50 kGy	Sterilization for commercial purposes Eliminate some disease- causing viruses Sterilize herbs, spices and other ingredients, foods for immuno- compromised hospital patients and for astronauts during space flight. Decontaminate certain food	 Industrial products and medical supplies, etc. Meat, poultry, seafood and other food prepared for sterilized hospital diets, spices, enzymes preparations, natural gum

**Source: modified after Ahmad 1995; Crawford and Ruff 1996.

and Corrigan 1995) (Table 5). However, electron beam irradiation was shown to be more efficient in decontamination or disinfestation of food products because the electron beam can be directed at the product or microorganism while the gamma sources emit radiation in all directions (Diehl 1990a; Chelack and other 1991; Blank and Corrigan 1995). X-rays have similar penetration ability as gamma and was first patented in the US to kill the nematod *Trichinella spiralis* in meat. Therefore, application of radiation on food may vary on types and dose level depending on its effectiveness and primary intentions (disinfestations, pasteurization).

Table 5. Comparison of the primary functional parameters that differentiate radiation technologies.

	Gamma	X-ray	E-beam
On/off technology	No	Yes	Yes
Penetration depth	50-80cm	50-80cm	5.8cm
Dose rate	kGy/h	kGy/s	kGy/s
Dose homogeneity	High	High	Low
C D 1 0004			

Source: Deeley 2004.

EFFECTS OF IRRADIATION ON FOOD SAFETY AND QUALITY

The use of food irradiation is most frequently focused on (i) microbiological safety of irradiated foods; (ii) nutrient loss during irradiation; (iii) free radical formation and radiolytic by-products of irradiation; and (iv) product quality-taste, texture, odor and other sensory attributes, (v) consumer acceptance (Bruhn and Noell 1987; Crawford and Ruff 1996; Nayga and others 2005). Hence, influences of radiation on food components that may affect the safety and overall quality of food have been widely studied.

According to Dickson (2001), radiation sensitivity of various organic compounds is proportional to their molecular weight. On the basis of this assumption, it has been estimated that a dose of 0.1kGy would damage 0.005% of the amino acids, 0.14% of the enzymes, and 2.8% of the DNA within a given cell (Pollard 1966; Dickson 2001). Studies have shown that irradiation is a safe and effective alternative to insure food safety other than heat and chemical treatments. Radiation inactivates microorganisms, thus improves the shelf-life of various products including meat products, herds, fruits and others (Byun and other 2002b; Kamat and others 2003; Palekar and others 2004; Wen H-W 2006). Radiation cause genetic material damage in microorganisms by generating radicals from water molecules which then react with the nucleic acids causing lesions in the DNA. However, sensitivity of the microorganisms to radiation is highly dependent on the irradiation condition and the food matrix, especially the availability of water in the systems (Dickson 2001).

Even though no major compositional changes and nutrient loss in food due to radiation has been known, studies have shown that ionizing radiation does alter the quality of food by affecting the major food components. Ionizing radiation can cause chemical changes in food components in both "direct", where the components are directly damaged by ionizing particles, and "indirect" actions, in which chemical changes are induced by the reactions of the products of water radiolysis with the food components. Irradiation of food containing fat in the presence of oxygen will lead to the development of rancid off-flavors due to lipid oxidation (Stewart 2001).

Irradiation of carbohydrate-containing food causes browning in sugar, which changes the color of food, and reduces the viscosity of food by reducing degree of polymerization of starch. In some carbohydrate foods, radiation also causes degradation of polysaccharides, such as starch, by inducing cleavage of glycosidic bond forming lower-molecular-weight sugars such as glucose, maltose, erythrose, ribose and mannose (Dauphin and Saint-Lebe 1977; Simic 1983; Sokhey and Hanna 1993). Researchers found that gamma irradiation caused modification of starch microstructure, reduction in paste viscosity of wheat, corn and rice and tenderization of rice curd texture (Ciesla and others 1991; Grant and D'Appolonia 1991; Sabularse and others 1991; Sung 2005; Kang and Byun 1996; Wu and others 2002).

Studies have shown that radiation at certain levels changes the structure of proteins, including structural modification of allergens using gamma irradiation to reduce its allergenicity (Byun and others 2002a). Radiation also introduced variability into seed storage proteins, which then affected their functional properties (Sabato and Lacroix 2002; Manjaya and others 2006). Individual or combined methods of radiation had been used to create mutant lines in crops breeding such as low-linolenic and high-oleic content (Rahman and others 1994, 1995; Patil and others 2004).

EFFECTS OF IRRADIATION ON SEED GERMINATION

Seed germination involves three major stages: imbibition of water, cell elongation followed by increase in cell number (Toole and others 1956). The imbibition stage is significant for water uptake of the seed prior to growth. Hence, the seed coat plays an important role in regulating the hydration of the seed, thus affecting its germination ability. Hardseed coats of stone beans (hardseeds) cause impermeability of the coats to water and dissolved gases, particularly oxygen and carbon dioxide, which then restrain the enlargement of the embryo. However, this condition can be improved by breaking or removing the seed coats (Toole and others 1956). The formations of hard seeds in legumes are believed to be due to the low moisture and/or high heat endured by the crop during final maturation prior to harvest (Mullin and Xu 2001).

Germination of the soybeans was also proved to be affected by radiation in Sakkar's study (1984). Increased doses of gamma radiation of the soybeans at 10, 20, 30, 40 KR (0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.4 kGy) increasingly affected the internode length and delayed the maturation process during germination where the maximum depression in germination was observed at the 20 KR dose (0.3 kGy) (Sakkar 1984). Manjaya also found the same radiation effect on gamma-irradiated soybeans - the plant height, flower color, sterility, leaf shape, early and late maturity had been affected (Manjaya and others 2006). Radiation above 0.2kGy reduced germination efficiency of lentil seeds while radiation above 1kGy caused loss of its germination ability (Chaudhuri 2002).

FLAVOR AND AROMAS OF SOYFOODS

The major issue in soybeans is the consumer acceptability of the beany flavor. Research on flavor characteristics of soybean products has been studied for decades with the intention to improve the flavor. Flavor compounds of raw soybeans have been extracted and volatile compounds were isolated and identified (Fujimaki and others 1965; Arai and others 1966, 1967; 1970) (Table 6). Volatile compounds from hexane extracted and Supercritical Fluid Extracted (SFE) soybean oils were also analyzed by Snyder and King (1994). Components identified includes C2 to C9 saturated aldehydes and the monounsaturated aldehydes, 2,4-heptadienal and 2,4-decadienal isomers, C5 to C8 saturated and unsaturated hydrocarbons, ethylfuran and penthylfuran, fatty acids and traces amount of ketones and alcohols (Table 7) (Snyder and King 1994). Part of the undesirable aroma in soy products may be due to lipid oxidation in soybeans.

Table 6.	Flavor	compounds	isolated	from	raw	soybeans.
		a success a restance				

Previous studies	Flavor compounds
Volatile neutral compounds from ground raw soybeans (Arai and others 1967)	Methanol, ethanol, 2-pentanol, isopentanol, pentanol, hexanol, heptanol, and pentanol acetate
Volatile fatty acids and volatile amines from raw soybeans (Arai and others 1966)	Acetic, propionic, isovaleric, valeric, isocaproic, caprylic, nonanoic, and capric acids
Volatiles from ground raw soybean (Fujimaki and others 1965)	Ethanol, 2-propanone, hexanal
Volatiles from raw soybean cotyledons (Arai and others 1970)	Pentanol, heptanol and heptanal
Volatiles in aqueous solution of soy protein isolates (Boatright and Lei 1999)	Dimethyl trisulfide, <i>trans, trans-2,4-</i> decadienal, 2-pentyl pyridine, <i>trans, trans-2,4-</i> nonadienal, hexanal, acetophnone, 1-octen-3-one.

Source: modified after Maga JA 1973; Boatright and Lei 1999.

Aldehydes	Hydrocarbons	Ketones and Alcohols	Others
Ethanal	Pentane	Ethanol	2-Ethylfuran
Propanal	2-Methylpentane	1-Propanol	2-Pentylfuran
Butanal	Hexane	A Butenol	Hexanoic acid
2-Butenal	Methyl cyclopentane	2-Butanone	
Pentanal	Heptane	1-Penten-3-one	
2-Methylbutanal	Octane	1-pentanol	
2-Pentenal	1,3-Nonadiene	A butendiol	
Hexanal		3-Pentenol	
2-Hexenal		1-Hexanol	
Heptanal		1-Octen-3-ol	
Octanal			
2t,4c-			
Heptadienal			
2t,4t-Heptadienal			
2-Octenal			
Nonanal			
2-Nonenal			
2t,4c-Decadienal			
2t,4t-Decadienal			

Table 7. Headspace volatiles from hexane-extracted and supercritical fluid extracted (SFE) soybean oils.

Source: Snyder and King 1994

Due to high unsaturation of soybean's fatty acids, which contain as high as 85% unsaturated fatty acids (Table 8), it is very susceptible to oxidation. Lipid oxidation in soybeans may be induced by natural enzymes that are present including lipoxygenases, lipases and some proteases. Non-enzymatic oxidation or autoxidation of lipids in soymilk may occur with the absence of natural enzymes depending on the unsaturation of fatty acids in the product and their exposure to oxygen, presences of metal ions (iron and copper), heat and UV light. Peñalvo and others found no major differences in the fatty acid profile of soybeans and soymilk after heat treatment, which indicated the possibility of lipid oxidation in both soybeans and its products (Peñalvo and others 2004) (Table 8).

Fatty acid *	Soybean	Soymilk
%SFA	13.8	15.3
% MUFA	21.2	22.1
% PUFA	64.6	62.4

Table 8. Fatty acid profile comparison of soybeans and traditional soymilk

* Based on percent of total fatty acids.

Source: Peñalvo and others 2004.

LIPOXYGENASE AND LIPID OXIDATION

Lipid oxidation is the process of the lipid component (unsaturated fatty acids or triglycerides) being oxidized in the presence of oxygen forming breakdown products that cause undesirable flavors and aromas. The overall mechanism of lipid oxidation involves three steps: (1) initiation, the formation of free radicals; (2) propagation, the free-radical chain reactions; and (3) termination, the formation of non-radical products. Each step of the oxidation is presented in Figure 9. Formation of free radicals and hydroperoxides accelerate the oxidation rate, which leads to oxidation of pigments and vitamins, polymerization of free radicals, formation of breakdown products that cause unpleasant off-flavor compounds such as ketones, aldehydes, alcohols, hydrocarbons, acids and epoxides, as well as causing insolubilization of proteins (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Mechanism of Lipid Oxidation (Source: Chemistry of Food Systems. University of British Columbia.)

Lipoxygenase, a monomeric polypeptides with a single non-heme iron cofactor, consists of three isozymes: Lipoxygenase-1 (L-1), Lipoxygenase-2 (L-2) and Lipoxygenase-3 (L-3) (Pistorius and Axelrod 1974; Axelrod and others 1981; Siedow 1991). Studies have shown that lipoxygenases play significant role in lipid oxidation in both soybeans and peanuts (St. Angelo and others 1979; Hildebrand and Kito 1984). The action of lipoxygenase in the presence of oxygen molecules on polyunsaturated fatty acids (linoleic and linolenic acids) or triglycerides that contain *cis*, *cis*-1,4-pentadiene moiety (Figure 4), forms hydroperoxide products that decomposed into acids, ketones, aldehydes, or other substances

(Rackis and others 1979). These break-down products further react with amino acids (lysine and threonine) and proteins to form new reaction products that may impair flavor (Kuck and others 1978). The flavor compounds can also interact through non-covalent interactions such as hydrophobic, hydrophilic and van der Waals forces, resulting in adsorption of off-flavor compounds onto soy protein (Aspelund and Wilson 1983). The principal cause of the objectionable flavors is short chain volatile carbonyl compounds, particularly hexanal, that bind to the soy protein (Fujimaki and others 1965, Sasaki and others 1981). It also has been shown that generation of n-hexanal from linoleic acid is due to lipoxygenase-2 isozyme (Matoba and others 1985).

The presence of lipoxygenase in soybeans is a major concern due to its ability to oxidize the polyunsaturated fatty acids (linoleic acids and linolenic acids), thus developing beany and grassy off-flavor in soy products by oxidizing polyunsaturated fatty acids (Siedow 1991; Wilson 1996). However, oxidation of linoleic acid maybe also be catalyzed by soy protein aggregation induced by lipoxygenase (Huang and others 2006). Twenty-one compounds (11 aldehydes, 3 alcohols, 4 ketones, 1 furan, one alkane and 1 alkene) were found in normal soybean line (BouÉ and others 2005). Studies have been done to improve the flavor of tofu and soymilk using lipoxygenase-free soybean (Torres-Penaranda and others 1998). In order to compare the effect of radiation on products of soybeans (soymilk and tofus), IA2032LS, the triple-null genotype soybean, and Vinton 81, lipoxygenase-present soybean, were used in this study to verify the effect of radiation versus effect of lipoxygenase on off-flavor development in soymilk.

23



Figure 4. The oxidation of linoleic acid (*cis*, *cis*-9,12-octadecadienoic acid) catalyzed by lipoxygenase indicating two possible reaction products: 9- and 13-hydroperoxylinoleic acid. (Source: Siedow 1991.)

ANTIOXIDANT IN SOYBEANS

Natural antioxidants found in soybeans such as tocopherols (vitamin E), vitamin C, carotenoids, and phenolic compounds are known to be protective against oxidative stresses in the soybeans (White and Xing 1997). Antioxidants play a significant role in reducing the lipid oxidation level in the soy food products. Several studies reported that aroma compounds extracted from soybeans had antioxidant properties comparable to the antioxidant capacity of Vitamin E (Pratt and Birac 1979; Lee and Shibamoto 2000). Aroma compounds such as eugenol, maltol, benzyl alcohol and 1-octen-3-ol inhibited the oxidation of hexanal in the beans and malonaldehyde formation in cod liver oil (Lee and Shibamoto 2000).

Studies have shown that isoflavones demonstrate a weak antioxidant defense mechanism. Flavonoids are a group of plant polyphenols that have the common skeleton of the flavan nucleus (Pietta and Mauri 2001). Flavonoids can exert their antioxidant activity by inhibiting the activities of enzymes, including lipoxygenase and cyclooxygenase, by chelating metal ions, and most importantly, by scavenging free radicals (Shi and others 2001). Isoflavones, a significant flavonoid compound in soybeans, has been studied and shown to be

24

a possible weak antioxidant in soybeans due to its phenolic structure (Figure 5). Table 9 shows the isoflavone concentration in different soy products and that processing leads to a wide range of isoflavone concentrations in soyfoods (Coward and others 1993, 1998; Wang and Murphy 1994).



Figure 5. Chemical structure of 12 isoflavone isomers. (Source: Song and others 1998.)

Product		Total Isoflavone (µg/g)
Isoflavone in soybea	n	
Range	0.1-0.4%	
Average	2.5%	
Soybean		1271.2
Toasted soy flakes		3095.4
soy flour		1807.0
Isolated soy protein		2161.5
Textured vegetable protein		2110.2
Regular soymilk		96.0
Low-fat soymilk		41.9
Non-fat soymilk		11.6
Regular tofu		323.0
Low-fat tofu		260.9

Table 9. Isoflavone concentration in different soy products.

Source: Coward and others 1993, 1998; Wang and Murphy 1994.

APPEARANCE AND TEXTURAL QUALITY OF SOYFOODS

Quality of soyfoods needs to be monitored and maintained at high levels to ensure consistent characteristic of the products. Viscosity of soymilk and texture of tofu are significant in determining specific characteristic of the food products as well as providing acceptable mouthfeel for consumers. As the quality attributes of soymilk and tofu, measurement on rheological properties and textural characteristics are widely done in the food industry for quality control.

Viscosity of soymilk can be measured using a double gap cylinder sensor system Model DG41 (Haake Waltham, MA), which is made up of the bell-shaped rotor and a beaker or cup. Figure 6 shows the geometry design of the sensor system, where the radii relationship of the shear surfaces is almost equal to create identical shearing conditions in both gaps.



Figure 6. Geometry of Sensor System DG41 made up of a beaker and a bell-shaped rotor. (Source: Haake 1997)

Viscosity of the soymilk can be determined by plotting the change of shear stress (τ) and shear rate (γ .) with time (s) by using Haake Software RheoWin-RS150 (Haake 1998) (Figure 7). Shear stress is proportional to the torque (Md) and to the stress factor (A) (Equation 1). Shear rate is proportional to the angular velocity or speed and the shear factor (M) (Equation 3).

Shear Stress (
$$\tau$$
) = Stress Factor (A) · Torque (Md) -----(1)

Where as Stress Factor (A) =
$$\frac{1}{2 \times \pi \times \text{Ri}^2 \times \text{L}}$$
 -----(2)

Shear Rate (γ) = Shear factor (M) x Angular speed (Ω) -----(3)

27



Source: Haake 1997.



Figure 7. Plot of shear stress vs shear rate for determination of viscosity.

Rheological properties of the soymilk and other liquids can be were determined based on Power's Law ($\tau = K \cdot \gamma$.ⁿ) where as n is the flow behavior index and K is flow consistent coefficient (unit of Pa·sⁿ) of the fluid. The type of fluid can be determined based on these rheological properties as shown in Table 10. Newtonian fluids have a flow consistent coefficient (K) greater than zero, flow behavior index (n) equal to 1, and no shear stress (σ) (Steffe 1996).
Fluid Type	K	n	σ
Herschel-Bulkley	>0	$0 < n < \infty$	>0
Newtonian	>0	1	0
shear-thinning (pseudoplastic)	>0	0 < n < 1	0
Shear-thickening (dilatent)	>0	$1 < n < \infty$	0
Bingham plastic	>0	1	>0

Table 10. Rheological characteristics of different fluid types.

Source: Steffe 1996.

Texture of tofu can be measured using texture profile analysis (TPA). It uses double compression to imitate the first bite and second bite by humans during ingestion of food. Seven attributes, including hardness, adhesiveness, springiness, cohesiveness, gumminess, chewiness and resilience, are measured by plotting a graph of force versus time (Figure 8). Each attribute is characterized by calculation as shown in Table 11.



Figure 8. Texture profile analysis (TPA) (Source: Texture Technologies Corp. 2005.)

Textural Attribute	Determination of Attribute
Hardness	Peak force of the first compression of the product.
Adhesiveness	Area 3
Fracturability	The first significant peak during the probe's first compression of the product.
Cohesiveness	Area of work during the 2nd compression / Area of work during the first compression (Area 2/Area 1)
Springiness	2nd compression distance / original compression distance (Length 2/Length 1)
Chewiness	Gumminess * Springiness (Length 1/Length 2)
Gumminess	Hardness * Cohesiveness (Area 2/Area 1)
Resilience	Area during the 1st withdrawal / Area of the 1st compression (Area 4/Area 5)

Table 11. Determination of Texture Profile Analysis (TPA) attributes.

Source: Texture Technologies Corp. 2005.

Hardness of the tofu can be measured by taking the peak force of the first compression using the equipment such as Wilson® / Shore® Hardness Testers (Instron Corp., Norwood, MA) and TA-XT2*i* texture analyzer with Texture Expert Software (Texture Technologies Corp., Scarsdale, NY). Fracturability of a product occurs at the first significant peak of the plot during the first compression. However, fracturability has not been measured in analysis of tofu texture. Cohesiveness measures the ability of the product to withstand a second deformation relative to its behavior during the first deformation. Springiness determines how well a product springs back after it has been deformed during the first compression. Chewiness only applies to solid products while gumminess only applies to semi-solid products. Resilience measures how well the product "fights to regain its original position" (Texture Technologies Corp. 2005).

In conclusion, a number of studies have been published on the effects of radiation on quality and functionality of different types of food. However, studies on soybeans quality and functionality as influenced by radiation are still limited. Only a few studies showed that gamma irradiation changes functional properties of soy proteins. Therefore, studies on the effects of electron beam irradiation on the quality and functional properties of soybeans may solve more questions of radiation effects on food quality as well as concerns of both Homeland Security and NASA, which leads to two hypotheses of this study:

Hypothesis 1:

Radiation and storage conditions, during transit to Mars, interact to decrease the amount of natural antioxidants in the soybean, induce lipid oxidation and decrease the yield and quality of soymilk and tofu.

Hypothesis 2:

Radiation at 1, 5, 10kGy will decrease the germination rate of the soybeans.

OBJECTIVES

The objective of this research is to establish whether electron beam irradiation at 1, 5 and 10 kGy of soybean cultivars would have an influence on microbial load, seed germination, antioxidant potential, aroma of soymilk, and the yield and texture of tofu.

CHAPTER 3

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Two non-GMO soybean cultivars were selected based upon the results of Wilson and others (2004): Vinton 81 (Pattison Bros. Mississippi River Terminal Inc., Clayton, IA) and IA2032LS (Stonebridge Ltd., Cedar Falls, IA). Both cultivars are high in protein and large seeded. Vinton 81 is considered to be the gold standard cultivar of the soyfoods industry for soymilk and tofu production. IA2032LS lacks three lipoxygenase isozymes and thus has a milder aroma and flavor (Wilson and others 2004b, 2005). It is used for soymilk, tofu and edamame soybean production. Soybeans harvested in two different crop years (2003, 2004) were used in this study: 2003 and 2004.

One pound of soybeans was weighed into Ziploc® bags (10 x 12.002 seal top), air forced out, sealed and labeled prior to radiation treatment. The amount of soybeans in the bag allowed a single layer of seeds to be exposed to the radiation treatment. The bagged soybeans were irradiated with electron beam radiation at Texas A&M University (College Station, TX) Electron Beam Facility at three radiation dose levels: 1, 5, 10 kGy. As a control (0 kGy), one set of each cultivar accompanied the treated soybeans to the irradiation site but was not treated. Four 1-lb bags (four replicates) were used for each dose level for each cultivar. A second set of soybeans harvested in 2004 was irradiated at the same irradiator site the following year as a crop year treatment for the study. Dosimeters accompanied each bag to verify radiation doses the soybeans received. All soybeans were stored in the dark at 20 °C prior to and after irradiation. The electron beam-treated dry whole soybeans were evaluated for proximate composition, vitamin E content, antioxidative capacity, thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), peroxide value (PV), free fatty acids (FFA), microbial load, and germination rate. Functionality changes in soybeans were evaluated by manufacturing the beans into soyfood products (soymilk and tofu) and determining yield, color, texture and aroma.

PROXIMATE ANALYSIS

Proximate compositions of the soybeans were analyzed using a Near Infrared (NIR) spectrometer Infratec 1229 Whole Grain Analyzer (Foss North America, Inc., Eden Prairie, MN). Approximately 500 g of samples were poured into the hopper and analyzed at 8 nm intervals from 810.5-1075nm (Hardy and others 1996). Percentage of moisture, protein, lipid and fiber are reported on a 13% moisture basis. The control and treated soybeans for each cultivar were analyzed in 4 replicates.

VITAMIN E ANALYSIS

Two hundreds grams (\pm 0.05 g) of soybeans for each treatment were sent to Medallion Labs (Minneapolis, MN) for vitamin E analysis. Approved methods of the American Association of Cereal Chemist (AACC) Method 86-06 were used to determine the vitamin E (α -tocopherol) contents in the samples by using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (AACC 2001). The percentage moisture of each sample was analyzed by using the vacuum oven method at 70 °C for 16 hours. The vitamin E content of each sample was reported as IU/100g. Only samples harvested in 2003 were analyzed for vitamin E content. All analyses were done in duplicate.

ISOFLAVONE ANALYSIS

The total isoflavone content as well as the amount of each isomer (daidzein, genistein, glycitein, daidzin, genistin, glycitin, malonyl daidzin, malonyl genistin, malonyl glycitin, acetyl daidzin, acetyl genistin, acetyl glycitin) were determined by Dr. Murphy's lab at Iowa State University using a Beckman System Gold High-Performance Liquid Chromatograph (HPLC) (Beckman, Fullerton, CA) with the Beckman System Gold HPLC data processing software (version 8, 1993) (Song 1998). The isoflavone content was reported as µg/g. Only samples harvested in 2003 were analyzed for vitamin E content. All analyses were done in duplicate.

ANTIOXIDANT CAPACITY

One gram (\pm 0.05 g) of each soybean sample was finely ground and mixed with 10 mL of HPLC grade methanol in a water bath shaker at room temperature for 5 minutes. The extracted solution was filtered through a syringe with a 0.45 μ m cellulose acetate filter (Sartorius AG, Goettingen, Germany). A 30- μ L aliquot was used to determine the antioxidant capacity of lipid soluble compounds with the Photochem[®] instrument using chemiluminesence following the ACL-Kit protocol (AnalytikjenaAG, Woodlands, TX). At least two blank measurements with less than 5% deviation were done and a calibration curve was constructed at a range of 0.5, 1.0, 2.0 and 2.5 nmol Trolox standards prior to sample

measurements. Each sample was run in triplicates. Antioxidant capacity was calculated based on the equation below and reported as $\mu g/mg$:

Concentration $(\mu g/mg) = \frac{\text{Quantity*Dilution*M*Volume}}{\text{Pipetted Volume*Weighted Sample}}$

Quantity:	Trolox equivalents in nmol
M:	250.3 ng/nmol (Molar mass of Trolox)
Pipetted volume:	30 µL
Weighted sample:	1000 mg
Volume:	10 mL
Dilution:	10 (at 1:10 dilution factor)

THIOBARBITURIC ACID (TBA), PEROXIDE AND FREE FATTY ACID (FFA) ANALYSES

The SāfTest® System (SāfTest®, Inc., Tempe, AZ), AOAC certified method (certificate number: 030405) (AOAC International, Gaithersburg, MD), was used to measure the thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), peroxide value and percent free fatty acid of dry whole soybeans. Two grams of ground soybeans (\pm 0.05 g) were weighed into the bottom of 50 mL-conical tube and 4.0 mL of SāfTest® Preparation Reagent (isopropanol, >99%) were added to make a 1:3 dilution. Ten glass beads were added to each conical tube. The sample was screw-capped and vortexed at the dial speed 10 for one minute followed by 15 minutes of heating on a Type 17600 Single Block Modular Dri-Bath (Barnstead International, Dubuque, IA). Samples were filtered through the membrane on the SāfTest® Filtration Unit at vacuum pressure of 5-10 in. Hg. The samples were kept at 40 °C in the heat block until tested. An aliquot of sample was reacted with standardized reagents and analyzed by the SāfTest® Analyzer with 570/690 or 550/690 filter (Table 12).

Table 12. Summar	of each SafTest®	Kit-STD Assays
------------------	------------------	----------------

SāfTest® Kit-STD Assays	Amount of sample used (µl)	Reaction time (min)	Filter*
AldeSafe TM Kit-STD Assays	150	90	550/690
PeroxySafe TM Kit-STD Assays	50	15	570/690
FASafe TM Kit-STD Assays	100	10	570/690

* Primary assay wavelength: 550nm or 570nm; reference wavelength: 690nm.

AldeSafeTM Kit-STD Assays test measured the malonaldehyde content as µmol of malonaldehyde/kg of sample. PeroxySafeTM Kit-STD Assays measured the lipid peroxide content as meq of peroxides/kg of sample. FASafeTM Kit-STD Assays measured the acid contents as percent oleic acid in the sample. The final results were obtained by adjusting the instrumental results based on the dilution factor:

Final result = SāfTestTM result * Dilution

SāfTestTM result: Instrument measurement

where as

(µmol/kg or meq/kg or %)

Dilution: 3 (at 1:3 dilution factor)

The equipment was calibrated with the standard calibrators for each kit and low, medium and high controls were tested as references prior to further measurement of samples. Each sample was tested in 2 replicates and three measurements were taken for each replicate.

MICROBIAL ANALYSIS

Five grams (\pm 0.05 g) whole soybeans for each treatment were packed into 6.5 cm x 9.3 cm sterile sealable bags and tested for microbial load at NASA Johnson Space Center Microbiology Laboratory (NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston TX). Each sample was tested in 5 replicates for total aerobic count (CFU/g), coliform count (coliform/g), salmonellae count (CFU/25g) and yeast and mold count (yeast/mold/g) based on the specification SD-T-0251 for raw material at NASA (Table 13).

Table 13. SD-T-0251 Specification for microbiology analysis.

Microbial Analysis	Specification
Total Aerobic count	IF any exceeds 20,000 and more than one exceeds $10,000 = FAIL$
Coliform count	IF any exceeds 100 or more than one exceeds $10 = FAIL$
Salmonellae count	Zero tolerance
Yeast and Mold count	IF any exceeds 1000 or more than one exceeds 100 or more than one exceeds $10 A$. <i>Flavus</i> = FAIL

GERMINATION STUDY

The standard Warm Germination Test (AOSA and ISTA official test) was conducted at the Iowa State University (ISU) Seed Testing Laboratory using a tray method for the germination study. Two layers of crepe cellulose papers (KimPak®) were placed on a tray, sprayed with water and soaked for at least 12 hours. Four replicate measures of 100 soybeans seeds for each treatment were randomly planted on each corner of eight trays loaded with moist KimPak® using a planting size 4 or 5 board. A press board was used to lightly press the seed into the KimPak® to ensure adequate contact between seed and substrata. Each corner of the tray was labelled and the trays of seeds were put in two different carts and allowed to germinate in two different bays at 25 °C, 95% RH for 8 days. Each tray was evaluated and the amount of normal, abnormal germinated and dead seeds were recorded and converted to percentage. Random sampling of the germinated seed at each dose level was taken for germinated height measurement (length from root tip to cotyledon).

SOYMILK AND TOFU MANUFACTURE

The functionality of the soybeans was evaluated by manufacturing soymilk and tofu. The standardized methods of Johnson and Wilson (1984), Wilson (1996), Moizuddin and others (1999a), Wilson and others (2004b, 2005) were used. The Japanese method of soymilk production (Wilson 1995) from whole soybeans was utilized (soak beans 8-12 hours, grind beans, cook at 95 °C for 7 minutes, filter out okara, coagulate the soymilk, cut the curds to release the whey, press in tofu press, and refrigerate overnight prior to chemical and instrumental tests). Stainless steel tofu presses (5 x 4.5 x 9 cm³; NASA FTCSC Equipment Grant 2004), with press weights (Wilson 2004b) for 100 g (dry beans) batches were used. Percent soluble solids of soymilk was measured by a Bausch & Lomb Abbe-3L Refractometer (Fisher Scientific Research, Pittsburgh, PA)] and coagulated at 85 °C using calcium sulfate dihydrate (Allied Custom Gypsum, Bessie, OK). The amount of coagulant needed was determined by the method of Moizuddin and others (1999b). After the arrival of the irradiated soybeans, control and treated samples were run in order to get an estimate of their behavior and the amount of coagulant needed per treatment.

YIELD CALCULATION

Yield of soymilk was calculated based on the dry beans weight (Formula 1). Yield of tofu was determined based on initial amount of soymilk used to manufacture tofu (Formula 2) and initial amount of dry beans weight used to produce both soymilk and tofu (Formula 3).

% soymilk yield =
$$\underline{\text{wt. of soymilk (g)}}_{\text{wt. of dry beans (g)}} \times 100\%$$
 ------ (1)

% tofu yield (soymilk basis) = $\frac{\text{wt. of tofu (g)}}{\text{wt. of soymilk used (g)}} \times 100\%$ ------(2)

% tofu yield (dry beans basis) = $\frac{\text{wt. of tofu } (g)}{\text{wt. of dry beans } (g)} \times 100\%$ ------(3)

COLOR ANALYSIS USING HUNTER LABSCAN XE

Color of samples (soymilk, tofu, okara and whey) was measured as L, a, b values using Hunter LabScan XE 0/45 Spectrophotometer (Hunter Associates Laboratory, Inc., Reston, VA, USA) in the port-down orientation with 1.75-inch viewing area, 2.0-inch port size set at illuminant D65 and 10° standard observer. The instrument was calibrated with a white tile (X = 79.43, Y = 84.32, Z = 90.39) and a black tile. The samples were filled into a 6.0cm diameter x 1.5cm depth plastic Petri dish with optical clarity (Fisher Scientific Research, Pittsburgh, PA), placed on the instrument port and measured from top of the dish. Each measurement was done in triplicate on three different spots of the sample. L = 100 indicates lightness and L = 0 indicates darkness, +a = red and - a = green, and +b = yellowand -b = blue.

VISCOSITY MEASUREMENT

Haake RheoStress RS150 (Thermo Electron Corporation, Waltham MA) was used to measure the viscosity of soymilk. 6.3 mL of soymilk sample was filled into the measuring cup DG41 and was measured by sensor Rotor DG41 at the setting of starting speed at 10.00 1/s, ending speed at 1500.00 1/s, gap distance at 5.1 mm, temperature at 23.0 °C. Each sample was analyzed in duplicate and three measurements were taken for each replication. Viscosity of soymilk was recorded at average shear rate of 600.00 1/s. K and n values of the soymilk were determined by the Haake Software RheoWin-RS150 based on a power law function.

TEXTURE ANALYSIS

Tofu samples were cut into 2 cm x 2 cm x 2 cm cubes for analysis. The TA-XT2*i* texture analyzer (Texture Technologies Corp., Scarsdale, NY) was warmed up for at least 30 minutes prior to use. A cylinder probe, TA-30 (2" diameter, 20 mm tall) was attached to the instrument and calibrated by inputting the initial distance of the probe to the base. The force was calibrated without weight and with a 5 kg weight monitored by the software Texture Expert. A non-fracture texture profile analysis (TPA) was used and the parameter settings as listed below were entered:

Load cell	5 kg
Distance (probe)	40 mm

Pre-test speed	2.0 mm/sec
Test speed	1.7 mm/sec
Post-speed speed	5.0 mm/sec
Rupture test distance	1%
Distance	50%
Force	0.98 N
Time	1 sec
Trigger	0.05 N

Samples were analyzed for hardness, adhesiveness, springiness, cohesiveness, gumminess, chewiness and resilience. Each sample was analyzed in 4 replicates.

FLAVOR ANALYSIS BY GAS CHROMATOGRAPHY (GC)

A 25-ml aliquot of soymilk prepared from each control and treatment soybeans were placed into a labeled 100ml flat bottom crimp top headspace vials (Supelco, Bellefonte, PA). The bottles were sealed with a standard seal (20 mm for vial 5 ml) containing a 20 mm rubber septa Teflon (Supelco, Bellefonte, PA) using a 11mm-hand crimper. Samples were stirred with a magnetic stirring bar while headspaces were sampled at 40 °C for 45 minutes with a solid-phase microextraction (SPME) fiber coated with 2cm-50/30µm Divinylbenzene(DVB)/Carboxen/ Polydimethylsiloxane (Boylston and others 2003). A Model 6890 gas chromatograph (Hewlett-Packard, Inc., Wilmington, DE) with a splitless injection port and flame ionization detector (FID) was used to separate the volatile compounds. The SPME fiber was removed from the sample headspace and thermally desorbed via the injection port for three minutes at set temperature of 220 °C while the

41

column temperature was held at 30 °C. Volatiles were swept onto an SPB-5 fused-silica capillary 30 m x 0.25 mm x 0.25 µm film thickness column (Supelco, Inc.). Ramp 1 was set to increase oven temperature from 30 °C at a rate of 3.5 °C/min. Ramp 2 increased oven temperature from 110 °C at a rate of 10.0 °C/min until the final temperature 200 °C is reached. The total run time was 39.86 min. The detector temperature was set at 220 °C and the flow rates of the detector gases were air at 400 mL/min, hydrogen at 30 mL/min and constant nitrogen flow (make-up gas) at 25 mL/min. Concentration of the volatiles were determined based on the peak area using the GC program; areas below 5 were not recorded (Crook and Boylston 2004).

Major volatile compounds were further identified by using a gas chromatograph-mass spectrometer (Micromass GCT, Waters Corp., Milford, MA) with a time-of flight mass analyzer. The samples were thermally desorbed into the GC injection port in a split (100:1) mode. GC condition were set at an initial temperature of 30 °C for 3 min, 3.5 °C/min from 30 °C to 110 °C, and 10.0 °C/min from 110 °C to 200 °C. The mass spectrometer conditions were set as electron ionization positive (EI +) polarity, source electron energy at 70 eV, source electron current at 200 μ A, ion source temperature at 180 °C, source ion repeller at 0.8 V, electron multiplier voltage at 2700 V, scan range from 41 to 400 m/s, at a frequency of scanning cycle every 0.75 seconds. Mass spectra of the volatile compounds were then compared to a spectral library (Wiley Library), Flavornet (Acree and Am 2004) and a flavor and fragrance database (FlavorWORKS, Flavometrics, Version 2.0, Anaheim Hills, CA) for identification (Crook and Boylston 2004).

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

A three-way analysis of variance (ANOVA): radiation (0, 1, 5, 10 kGy), year (2003, 2004), cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS), radiation:year, radiation:cultivar, year:cultivar, and radiation:year:cultivar interactions, was performed to analyze the results statistically using program R, a statistical computing and graphics language and environment (R Development Core Team 2006, Vienna, Austria). A blocking effect was done on replicate (total of 4 replicates for this study design). Significance of the results were determined based on p<0.05. All pair wise comparison among means was analyzed using Tukey Honestly Significantly Different (HSD) with p<0.05 to be significant. However, results and discussion will be focused on radiation effect and its interaction.

Data for vitamin E and isoflavone analysis were statistically analyzed using a twoway ANOVA: radiation (0, 1, 5, 10 kGy), cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) and radiation:cultivar due to unavailability data from crop year 2004. Significance of the results were also determined based on p<0.05. All pair wise comparison among means was analyzed using Tukey Honestly Significantly Different (HSD) with p<0.05 to be significant.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Since the effect of radiation on all attributes of soybeans is the major concern in this study, significant effect of radiation and its interactions with year and cultivar effects will be discussed. Effects due to interactions between crop year and cultivars is expected because different growing conditions including environmental factors (soil, weather, oxidation stress) and *in vivo* condition of the crop (enzymes activity, metabolism rate) may result in variation from year to year for each cultivar. Therefore, effects of crop year and cultivar may not be discussed in depth. Statistical results indicating the significance of the effects of radiation, year, cultivar and the interactions for each variable are listed in Appendix A (Table 23 - 38).

PROXIMATE ANALYSIS

Proximate composition of the two soybean cultivars: Vinton 81 and IA2032LS, from crop years 2003 and 2004 are shown in Table 14 on a 13% moisture basis. No significant of radiation effect on the moisture, protein, oil and fiber of the soybeans was found. The results indicate that the composition of soybeans was highly dependent upon the cultivar and crop year of the soybeans, which is to be expected as growing conditions vary from year to year. Studies have shown that there is an effect of variety, crop year and location on the isoflavone composition of soybeans (Wang and Murphy 1994). Both cultivars from 2003 (10.28% and 10.99% respectively) had higher moisture content than cultivars from 2004 (9.30% and 10.58% respectively), and IA2032LS had slightly higher moisture than Vinton 81 across both years. Both cultivars were considered high protein but variation within each cultivar can be

observed depending on its harvesting year. Statistical analysis shows that the effect of crop year on the moisture, protein, oil and fiber contents in these soybeans was strongly dependent on the cultivar (year:variety p<0.05). Vinton 81 from 2003 (average of 38.88%) had higher protein content than IA2032LS from the same year (average of 36.45%) while in 2004, IA2032LS (average of 38.98%) had higher protein content than Vinton 81 (average of 38.16%). A similar case was found for oil content of both cultivars, IA2032LS had a higher oil content than Vinton 81 in both crop years but oil content in both cultivars from 2003 were generally higher than cultivars from 2004. The oil content for each cultivar also varied for both years where IA2032LS was higher in 2003 (average of 19.87%) than in 2004 (average of 17.74%). A long-term crop rotation study revealed that environmental factors and putative changes in soil ecology could affect seed protein and oil content (Bennett 2005). Variation within a cultivar from different year may also due to changes in enzyme activities (desaturase) in synthesizing fatty acids, influenced by both temperature and light quality (Cheesbrough 1989; Britz and Cavins 1993). There is no fiber content difference between cultivars in 2003 (average of 4.50% for both) but Vinton 81 (average of 4.70%) has higher fiber content than IA2032LS in 2004 (average of 4.59%).

Crop Year	Cultivar	Moisture	Protein*	Oil*	Fiber*
2003	Vinton 81	10.28a	38.88a	17.79a	4.50a
	IA 2032 LS	10.99b	36.45b	19.87Ъ	4.50a
2004	Vinton 81	9.30c	38.16c	17.41c	4.70b
	IA 2032 LS	10.58d	38.98a	17.74a	4.59c

Table 14. Soybean Compositions of Vinton 81 and IA2032LS

* Data are reported as % on a 13% moisture basis.

^{**}Means within a column with different letters (a,b,c) are significantly different at p<0.05 (n = 16).

VITAMIN E ANALYSIS

Only dry whole soybeans from crop year 2003 were analyzed for vitamin E content. The Vinton 81 cultivar (average of 6.17 IU/100g) had a slightly higher vitamin E level than the IA2032LS cultivar (average of 5.26 IU/100g). A similar trend of radiation effect was observed in both cultivars where vitamin E level slightly decreased after radiation at 1 kGy and remained fairly constant at higher doses (5 and 10 kGy). However, the differences due to the effect of radiation as well as within both cultivars are not significant (p>0.05). Simontacchi's study (1993) suggested that α -tocopherol content in soybeans is physiologically adjusted as a response to conditions of oxidative stress due to environment (Simontacchi and others 1993).

ISOFLAVONE ANALYSIS

Preliminary study on isoflavone content of e-beam treated soybeans was done on cultivars harvested in 2003. Since isoflavones have been shown to be strongly linked to antioxidant activity (Rice-Evans and others 1996), these data were compared to antioxidant capacity of soybeans influenced by radiation in this study. Radiation did not significantly affect the total isoflavone content as well as the total genistein of the soybeans but significantly affected the total daidzein and glycitein content (Figure 9). Total daidzein and glycitein were increased at 10 kGy (averages of 591.75 μ g daidzein/g and 113.75 μ g glycitein/g) compared to the non-irradiated soybeans (averages of 584.75 μ g daidzein/g and 109.5 μ g glycitein/g). The total isoflavone content of the soybeans was different depending on the cultivars (Table 15). IA2032LS had higher total isoflavone content than Vinton 81 cultivar (averages of 1443.5 μ g/g and 1158.0 μ g/g respectively). Also, IA2032LS cultivar

had higher content of daidzein, genistein and glycitein than the Vinton 81 cultivar as shown in Table 15.



Figure 9. Influence of e-beam irradiation at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy on total isoflavone and its isomers (daidzein, genistein, glycitein) ($\mu g/g$) of whole dry soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means of 2 replicates and 2 cultivars (n = 4); '*' indicates significant radiation effect (p<0.05).

Cultivar	(µg isoflavone/g) *					
	Total Daidzein	Total Genistein	Total Glycitein	Total Isoflavone		
IA2032LS	613.00 ± 30.57^{a}	717.00 ± 9.81^{a}	113.5 ± 10.30^{a}	1443.5 ± 46.46^{a}		
Vinton 81	546.63 ± 10.78^{b}	508.13 ± 11.29^{b}	$103.25\pm3.48^{\text{b}}$	1158.0 ± 24.58^{b}		

Table 15. Isoflavone content of e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans affected by cultivar (Vinton 81 and IA2032LS).

* Means (\pm standard deviation) within a column with different letters (a, b) are significantly different at p<0.05 (n = 8).

ANTIOXIDANT CAPACITY

There was no significant effect of irradiation on the antioxidant capacity of the ebeam surface irradiated whole dry soybeans. However, there was a significant interaction between the crop year and cultivar effect (year:variety p<0.001), where the antioxidant capacity of the soybeans strongly depended on its cultivar and year harvested (Figure 10). There was no difference in antioxidant capacity for both cultivars in 2003 (average of 1.22 µg/mg). However, significant cultivar effect was observed in 2004: IA2032LS (average of 1.52 µg/mg) had higher antioxidant capacity than Vinton 81 (average of 0.92 µg/mg). This was comparable to results found in a recent study by Wilson and others (2004a) that antioxidant capacity is lower in Vinton 81 than IA2032LS. Different compounds including vitamin E, isoflavones and other natural phenolic compounds that are present in soybeans may serve as antioxidant. However, only vitamin E and isoflavones were analyzed in this study. As shown in both analyses, antioxidant compounds may vary from cultivar to cultivar as well as year to year. The antioxidant capacity highly depended on the variety of soybeans itself, the growing condition as well as storage conditions of the soybeans (Wang and Murphy 1994; Hoeck and others 2000; Lee and others 2003).



Figure 10. Antioxidant capacity in ug/mg of e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans due to interaction of cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) and crop year (2003, 2004) effects. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 64); '*' indicates significant difference (p<0.05).

THIOBARBITURIC ACID (TBA), PEROXIDE AND FREE FATTY ACIDS (FFA) ANALYSES

Measurement of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) using AldeSafeTM Kit-STD Assays showed that irradiation did not significantly affect the malonaldehyde content of the dry whole soybeans but significant year and cultivar effects were observed (Figure 12). Data showed that average malonaldehyde content across both Vinton 81 and IA2032LS cultivars from 2003 (5.06 nmol/ml) was higher than the cultivars from 2004 (2.43 nmol/ml). The IA2032LS had significantly higher malonaldehyde content than the Vinton 81 cultivar (4.09 nmol/ml and 3.40 nmol/ml respectively). Although vitamin E and isoflavones are speculated to be responsible for the antioxidant capacity of the soybeans, both data cannot be correlated with the antioxidant capacity due to analyses being done at different period of study. Variation in malonaldehyde content of soybeans may due to the variation in oil content of the soybean, as shown in Table 14, that IA2032LS cultivar had the higher average oil content and higher average malonaldehyde content than the Vinton 81 cultivar (Figure 12). Therefore, both cultivar and crop year of soybeans played a significant role on soybean malonaldehyde content; the crops were grown at different time and in different condition. Priestley and Leopold (1979) found that unsaturation in whole soybean seeds did not change significantly during aging thus suggesting that oxidation of seed lipids may be unrelated to the process of seed aging (storage time). Storage conditions (time and temperature) also affected antioxidant capacity of soybean (Wilson and others 2004a).

There was no significant effect of irradiation, crop year or cultivar observed in lipid peroxide content of the e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans. However, there was a significant interaction between crop year and cultivar (p<0.05) (Figure 13). The IA2032LS cultivar had higher peroxide content than Vinton cultivar in 2003, but the opposite case was observed in 2004. The IA2032LS cultivar from 2003 had the highest peroxide content compared to the Vinton 81 cultivar of 2003 and both cultivars in 2004 (Vinton 81: average of 0.041 meq/kg; IA2032LS: average of 0.019 meq/kg). Measurement of peroxide content of the soybeans was inconsistent in indicating levels of lipid oxidation due to the lack of sensitivity in this method where peroxide content of some samples were below detectable limit, which were report as 0 meq/kg.



Figure 12. Influence of crop year (2003, 2004) and cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) on the malonaldehyde content (nmol/ml) of e-beam surface irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 48); '*' indicates significant cultivar effect (p<0.05); '**' indicates significant year effect (p<0.05).



Figure 13. Interaction effects of crop year (2003, 2004) and cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) on the lipid peroxide content (meq/kg) of e-beam surface irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 24).

Fatty acid content was measured as percent oleic acid. There were significant effect of radiation, year and cultivar on the e-beam treated soybeans (p<0.05). However, significant interaction effects between radiation and cultivar as well as year and cultivar were observed. The effect of radiation on free fatty acid content of the dry whole soybeans was highly dependant on the cultivar (irradiation:year p<0.05) (Figure 14). An increase in percent oleic acid was observed for the 10 kGy e-beam irradiated Vinton 81 cultivar comparing the control and lower dose irradiated soybeans (0, 1, 5 kGy). However, a decrease was observed in the IA2032LS cultivar comparing the control soybeans and the e-beam treated soybeans (1, 5, 10 kGy). Variation of free fatty acid content also significantly depended on crop year and cultivars (year:cultivar p<0.05), which is expected due to the different growing condition and

nutritional stress level of the crop during each crop year. The free fatty acid content in Vinton 81 cultivar from 2004 was significantly higher than the IA2032LS cultivar but no difference was observed in both cultivars from 2003 (data was not shown). It is also comparable to the malonaldehyde and peroxide content data in that IA2032LS has a significantly higher free fatty acid content than Vinton 81 (p<0.05). Higher amount of malonaldehyde, peroxides and free fatty acids that were found in IA2032LS could due to its higher oil content compared to Vinton 81 (Table 14). However, the majority of the samples had very low levels of free fatty acids that were at the detectable limit of this method, and therefore, reported as less than 0.120% oleic acid.



Figure 14. Interaction effects of radiation (0, 1, 5, 10 kGy) and cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) on the free fatty acid content measured as percent oleic acid (%) of e-beam surface irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 12). '*' indicates data below detectable limit and reported as less than 0.120%.

MICROBIAL ANALYSIS

The e-beam treated soybeans were analyzed for total aerobic, coliform, and salmonella bacteria and yeast and mold counts. No salmonella was found in any sample (Table 18). Coliform counts for Vinton 81 control (0 kGy) ranged from 0 to 8 CFU/g while no coliforms were found in the IA2032LS cultivar or in any of the irradiated soybeans. Results also show that e-beam surface irradiation did reduce the microbial load of the whole soybeans for both cultivars where the controls (0 kGy) had the highest total aerobic count/g (Vinton 81 ranged from 170 to 450 CFU/g and IA2032LS ranged from 50 to 170 CFU/g). Radiation reduced the total aerobic count to 0-280 CFU/g at 1 kGy; 0-20 CFU/g at 5 kGy and 0-10 CFU/g at 10 kGy (Table 18). Some yeasts and molds were isolated (0 to 18 CFU/g) and Aspergillus flavus was found on one sample, which may be due to contamination after irradiation (sampling). All of the soybean cultivars in these studies would meet NASA Flight Food Microbiological Requirements (Table 13) (i.e. they could fly on Shuttle and International Space Station missions). No specific microbiological standard for dry whole soybeans from the field was found. In contrast to typical microbiological quantitative range of commercial "normal" cereal grains (total aerobic count is $10^2 - 10^6$ /g, coliform count is 10^2 -10⁴/g, yeasts and molds: 10²-10⁴/g) (Deibel and Swanson 2001), NASA specification is 2 log tighter for the total aerobic count and coliform count, 1 log tighter for yeast and mold counts than the upper range of regular standard.

Radiation Dose (kGy)	Vinton 81				1A2032LS			
	0	1	5	10	0	1	5	10
Total Aerobic count	170-450	0-280	0-10	0	50-170	20-30	0-20	0-10
Coliform	0-8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Salmonella	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Yeast and Mold	0-20	0-36	0-10	0-14	8-32	0-2	0-6	0

Table 18. Microbial study on e-beam irradiated soybeans at 0, 1, 5, 10kGy

** All counts are reported in CFU/gram.

* Ranges shown are crop year averages (n = 20).

GERMINATION STUDY

Germination ability of the control and treated soybeans was studied by evaluating the percent of normal, abnormal germination and dead seed. E-beam radiation significantly affected the growth of the soybean seed (Figure 15). The seeds were able to grow normally for the control (0 kGy), 1 kGy and 5 kGy but the height of the sprouts was affected. The nonirradiated soybeans were able to grow up to an estimated range of 15-17 cm; soybeans irradiated at 1 kGy were able to grow to an estimated height of 5-7 cm while seeds irradiated at 5 kGy grew to an estimated height of 2-3 cm. Most of the 10 kGy-irradiated soybeans appeared to be moldy dead seeds after 8 days of incubation. The influence of radiation and cultivar on the germination of soybeans are shown in Figures 16 and 17. Figure 16 shows the average of germination data across both years (2003 and 2004) for Vinton 81 while data for IA2032LS is shown in Figure 17. The germination ability of irradiated seeds was significantly decreased in both cultivars (p<0.05). Normal germination decreased significantly from 87.6% and 46.9% respectively for the control seeds (0 kGy) to 0 and 0.5% respectively for the 10 kGy irradiated seeds (Figures 16 and 17). As radiation dose increased, most of the seeds experienced abnormal germination or either loss of germination ability (dead seeds). Lesions in nucleic acids, due to radiation, played an important role in deterioration of seed (Roberts and Osborne 1973). The effect of radiation on the normal germination of soybeans strongly depended on the cultivar or crop year of the soybeans (radiation:year p<0.0024; radiation:cultivar p<0.0001). Radiation reduced normal germination of the e-beam treated soybeans at a higher rate in 2004 than in 2003 (Figure 18a) and for Vinton 81 cultivar (Figure 18b).





(c) 5 kGy



(d) 10 kGy

(a) 0 kGy (Control)

Figure 15. Influence of e-beam radiation at dose levels of 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy on seedling vigor of soybeans after 8 days germination at 25 °C, 95% humidity (a) control seed (0 kGy): 15 - 17 cm; (b) 1 kGy: 5 - 7 cm; (c) 5 kGy: 2 - 3 cm; (d) 10 kGy: 0 cm.



Figure 16. Germination study of e-beam irradiation soybean seeds (Vinton 81) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 8).



Figure 17. Germination study of e-beam irradiation soybean seeds (IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 8).



Figure 18. Interactions effects between (a) radiation and year, (b) radiation and cultivar on normal germination of e-beam irradiated soybean.

Age of the seeds also significantly affected germination ability in that seeds from 2004 (average of 97.8% and 62% for each cultivars) had higher percent of normal germination than seeds from 2003 (average of 77.5% and 31.8% for each cultivars) (Table 19). Comparing the two different cultivars, Vinton 81 (average of 87.65% normally germinated) had higher germination ability than IA2032LS (average of 46.90% normally germinated). These variations in germination ability may due to the genetic, composition (nutrient source) and growth condition differences between the two cultivars. One of the variations within a cultivar was the presence of stone beans (hard shell beans that do not absorb water) in the IA2032LS cultivar from 2003, with the lowest percentage of normal germination (31.8%) among all (Table 19).

Scientists also believe that aging of dried seeds in storage is accompanied by changes in membranes and nucleic acids (Heydecker 1972; Robert and Osborne 1973; Villiers 1973). Alterations in seed membranes during aging are due to peroxidation and autooxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids that leads to free radical formation and possible peroxidative damage to lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids. Changes in the membranes of aged seeds may enhance leakage of solutes during seed imbibition, indicating inability of seeds to re-form coherent membranes during rehydration, thus resulting in loss of vigor and lack of germination (Ching and Schoolcraft 1968; Parrish and Leopold 1978; Priestley and Leopold 1979). Soybeans treated at 10 kGy were softer and had some broken cotyledons after soaking compared to the control soybeans. Wilson (2005) observed that soybeans treated at 10 and 30 kGy using gamma ray and e-beam were visually damaged after soaking. Soybeans irradiated at 30 kGy lost up to 4% solid into the soaking water. Harman and Mattick (1976) studied accelerated aging of pea seeds and found that the decrease in germination rate was paralled by a pronounced decline in linoleic (C18:2) and linolenic (C18:3) acids whereas the saturated and monoenoic fatty acids remained unchanged.

Percent of abnormal beans decreased drastically at 10 kGy (averages of 1.8% and 0.8% for each cultivar) as most of the seeds were dead due to the effect of irradiation (Figures 16 and 17). A slightly higher percentage of abnormal beans was found in IA2032LS. Hard seeds were classified as dead seeds after 8 days of germination. Percent dead seeds increased as the radiation dose increased, from averages of 5.38% and 22.38% for each cultivar at 0 kGy to the highest averages of 97.75% and 99.25% at 10 kGy. Wilson and others (2005) and Wilson (2004) also found that e-beam or gamma ray irradiation at 10 kGy or 30 kGy caused loss of ability of the seed to germinate. High levels of irradiation

negatively affected the physiology of the seedlings, hence, reduced its germinating ability (Buck and others 2003). In contrast to the normal germination data, IA2032LS cultivar had higher percentage of dead seeds at control (0 kGy) (average of 22.38%) compared to the Vinton 81 cultivar (average of 5.38%) (Figures 16 and 17). Crop year of the soybeans also decreased its germination ability, where both cultivars (Vinton 81 and IA2032LS) had higher percent of dead seeds for harvest from 2003 (average of 10.50% and 41.25% respectively) than 2004 (average of 0.25% and 3.50% respectively) (Table 19). The higher percentage of dead seeds in IA2032LS cultivar from 2003 may also due to the presence of stone beans.

	Radiation Dose		Perce	ent (%)	
	(kGy)	Vinte	on 81	IA2032LS	
		2003	2004	2003	2004
	0	77.50	97.80	31.80	62.00
mal	1	72.50	94.50	22.50	73.80
Nor	5	31.00	85.30	0.00	50.30
	10	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
-	0	12.00	2.00	27.00	19.50
rmai	1	18.00	3.75	29.75	24.50
lbno	5	33.00	12.00	10.50	34.25
	10	3.50	0.00	0.00	1.50
	0	10.50	0.25	41.25	3.5
ad	1	9.50	1.75	47.75	1.75
De	5	46.00	2.75	89.50	13.00
	10	95.50	100.00	100.00	98.50

Table 19. Germination study of e-beam irradiated soybeans at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) for 2003 and 2004.

* Each value is the mean of four replicates of 100 seeds.

WATER ABSORPTION

Water absorption of the soybeans after 10 hours of soaking is shown in Figures 19 and 20. Considering solely the radiation effect, water absorption of the beans significantly increased as the radiation dose level increased especially at 10 kGy for both cultivar (p<0.01) (Figure 19). The water absorption ranged from 1% to 7% for the control beans (0 kGy) and 10 kGy e-beam treated soybeans respectively. This maybe due to seed coat and cellulose damage caused by radiation treatment that allowed more water absorption. Considering the individual effects (cultivar and crop year), Vinton 81 cultivar had higher percent of water absorption than IA 2032LS cultivar (p<0.001) after soaking while soybeans from 2004 had higher percentage of water absorption than soybeans from 2003 (p<0.001) (Figure 20). Vinton 81 had higher water absorption in 2003 due to the presence of stone beans in IA2032LS cultivar, which failed to absorb water. This problem could be improved by removing the seed coat, allowing water permeability of the seed. Each cultivar also behaved differently in each year (year: cultivar p<0.0001) where IA2032LS from 2004 had higher water absorption than IA2302LS from 2003 due to the absense of the 'hard coat' seeds. Different growing conditions during each year may have affected the water absorption ability of the crop seeds. Mullin and Xu (2001) showed that water uptake ratio of the seeds as well as occurrence of hard seeds correlated to the differences in hemicellulose content of the seed coat fractions. It also had been shown that resistance to water absorption was consistent with the calcium content in the seed coat (Saoi 1976). Fluctuation of environment temperature during development of the seeds may increase the creation of stone beans.



Figure 19. Water absorption in percent of e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA 2032LS) at radiation doses of 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 8).



Figure 20. Interaction effects between year (2003, 2004) and cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) on the water absorption of the e-beam irradiated soybeans after 10 hours soaking. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 16).

SOYMILK AND TOFU YIELD

Percent yield of soymilk was calculated based on the initial weight of the dry beans. Overall, soybeans from 2004 (977.49%) had a higher percent yield of soymilk as compared to soybeans from 2003 (957.42%) (Figure 21) (p<0.05). No significant effect of radiation and cultivars on the percent yield of soymilk was observed. As suggested by Gayler and Sykes (1985), nutritional stress during seed development of the soybeans affects the storage proteins. Environmental factors may have played a significant role in affecting the storage protein of the seeds thus resulting in soymilk yield variation.



Figure 21. Percent soymilk yield from E-beam irradiated soybeans in 2003 and 2004. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 32).

Percent tofu yield was calculated two ways: 1) based on the initial starting amount of soymilk by weight, and 2) based on of the initial starting amount of dry soybeans by weight (Table 20). Both calculations demonstrated similar results - the soy proteins were extracted into the soymilk and in turn were able to be coagulated by the calcium sulfate dihydrate (coagulant). Irradiation did not affect °Brix of soymilk or tofu yield at radiation doses as high as 10 kGy, but lower tofu yield was found in soybeans irradiated at 30 kGy (Wilson and others 2005). Significant cultivar effect was observed - Vinton 81 (average of 189.50% on dry beans basis) had a higher percent tofu yield than IA2032LS (average of 169.20% on dry beans basis) (Table 20) (p<0.05). This may be due to Vinton 81 cultivars yielded a higher °Brix in soymilk. On a dry beans basis, the higher protein content of Vinton 81 contributed to the higher tofu yield. No significant difference in tofu yield was found when calculated on the soymilk used basis. However, there was no crop year effect on the tofu yield for both calculations. Textural changes due to cultivar and irradiation are noted later in this report and previously by Wilson and others (2005).

	Tofu Yield $(\%)^1$			
Radiation Dose	Vinton 81		<u>IA2032LS</u>	
(kGy)	2003	2004	2003	2004
0	24.01 ± 1.19	25.49 ± 1.06	22.40 ± 2.30	22.02 ± 0.83
1	23.69 ± 1.51	24.07 ± 1.01	22.36 ± 1.26	22.10 ± 0.94
5	23.04 ± 2.31	24.71 ± 0.42	21.64 ± 1.38	22.17 ± 0.52
10	24.76 ± 0.46	25.17 ± 2.68	22.09 ± 0.89	22.56 ± 1.35
Average	24.37	± 0.57	22.17	± 0.18
	Tofu Yield (%) ²			
0	187.12 ± 11.06	196.82 ± 10.74	175.10 ± 23.05	170.13 ± 6.84
1	184.51 ± 8.15	189.02 ± 9.99	153.82 ± 21.42	172.90 ± 9.57
5	183.50 ± 11.66	191.86 ± 6.69	165.96 ± 11.41	171.56 ± 5.10
10	188.86 ± 3.33	194.29 ± 26.21	171.63 ± 4.53	172.46 ± 10.18
Average	189.50 ± 11.97 *		169.20 ± 13.32 *	

Table 20. Percent tofu yield of e-beam irradiation soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.

¹Percent tofu yield determined based on amount of soymilk used.

²Percent tofu yield determined based on amount of dry soybeans.

Note: All data shown are mean \pm standard deviation. '*' indicates significant cultivar effect (p<0.05).
COLOR ANALYSIS OF

WHOLE SOYBEANS, SOYMILK, TOFU, OKARA AND WHEY

Color of Whole Soybeans

Color of irradiated whole soybeans was analyzed and reported as Hunter L, a, b values in Figures 22 (a), (b), (c). Radiation at 1, 5, 10 kGy did not significantly affect the physical appearance of the whole dry soybeans. There was a significant cultivar effect on lightness (L value) and significant year effect on the redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whole dry soybeans (p<0.05). Vinton 81 cultivar generally had a lighter color than the IA2032LS cultivar. However, soybeans harvested in 2003 had more redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) than soybeans harvested in 2004. However, interaction effects between crop year and cultivar can be seen in lightness (L value), redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the soybeans (p<0.001). Vinton 81 cultivar had higher lightness (L value) than IA2032LS cultivar in 2003 but no difference in lightness (L value) in 2004 for two cultivars (Figure 22 a). IA2032LS cultivar harvested in 2004 had the lower redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) and yellowness (+ b value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the solutivar harvested in 2004 had the lower redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) values than Vinton 81 cultivar but no difference in redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the value) of the whole solutivar but no difference in redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whole solutivar but no difference in redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whole solutivar but no difference in redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whole solutivar but no difference in redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whole solutivar but no difference in redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whole solutivar but no difference in redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whole solutivar but no difference in redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whole solutivar but no difference in redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whole sol



Figure 22. Interactions of year (2003, 2004) and cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) effects on (a) lightness (L value); (b) redness (+ a value); (c) yellowness (+ b value) of e-beam surface irradiated whole dry soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 48). '*' indicates significant difference between two means.

66

Color of Soymilk

Color analysis of soymilk produced from E-beam irradiated soybeans is shown in Figures 23 (a), (b), (c). There was no significant effect of irradiation and crop year on the lightness (L value) of the soymilk. However, soymilk produced from the IA2032LS cultivar had higher L value than Vinton 81 cultivar (Figure 23 a). Significant color changes due to radiation effect were observed in the greenness (- a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the soymilk (Figure 23 b & c). Radiation decreased the greenness (- a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the soymilk. This may be due to the effect of radiation on the structure (double bonds) of pigments (such as chlorophyll) and polyunsaturated fatty acids in the soymilk. Unsaturated structures were being oxidized resulting in less greenness. There was significant cultivar effect on the greenness (- a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of soymilk, in that soymilk from Vinton 81 had less greenness (-a value) and less yellowness (+ b value) than sovmilk from IA2032LS at all dose levels (Figures 23 a and 23 b). This may be due to the "oxidative" reaction of lipoxygenase on color pigments [e.g. bleaching of β -carotene and use of colorimetric method for lipoxygenase activity determination (Cha and others 2000; Anthon and Barrett 2001)] in Vinton 81 that reduced the greenness (- a value) and yellowness (+ b value) in comparison to the soymilk from the lipoxygenase-free IA2032LS. Soymilk produced from soybeans harvested in 2003 had more yellowness (+ b value) than sovmilk produced from sovbeans harvested in 2004 but it is expected to be different from year to year due to different environmental stresses (nutrient, oxygen, weather etc.) (Data was not shown).

Statistical analysis shows that there is interaction effects between radiation and year as well as year and cultivar on the yellowness (+ b value) of the soymilk. Interaction effects

of radiation and year is shown in Figure 23 c but interaction between year and cultivar is not a major concern (data not shown). Consistent decrease in yellowness (+ b value) of soymilk can be seen in the IA2032LS cultivar. However, yellowness (+ b value) of the soymilk was increased at 1 kGy but decreased at higher dose level (5 and 10 kGy) (Figure 23 c). This could due to the environmental effects (nutrient source, weather) during the growing of soybeans in different years that caused inconsistent metabolism rate and enzyme activities, resulting in color differences of soybeans and later in the soymilk.



Figure 23 (a). Cultivar effect on the lightness (L value) of soymilk produced from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS). *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 48). '*' indicates significant difference between two means.



(c)

Figure 23 (b) and (c). Radiation and cultivar effects on greenness (- a value) (c) Interaction effects of radiation and cultivar on yellowness (+ b value) of soymilk from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 24).

Figures 24 (a), (b) and (c) show the results for color of tofus made from e-beam irradiated soybeans at dose levels of 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy for both Vinton 81 and IA2032LS cultivars. Irradiation did not affect the lightness (L value) of the tofus but did affect its redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value). Soybeans harvested in 2004 produced tofus with more lightness (L value) than tofus from soybeans harvested in 2003. Tofus from IA2032LS had more lightness (L value) than tofus from Vinton 81. Soybean cultivars harvested in 2003 produced tofus with higher redness value (+ a value) than cultivars harvested in 2004 (data not shown since year and cultivar effect are expected). As shown in Figure 24 a, radiation increased the redness (+ a value) of tofus where the 10 kGy e-beam treated soybeans produced tofus with the highest redness (+ a value) compared to lower doses and control beans. The radiation treatment also significantly decreased the yellowness (+ b value) of the (Figure 24 b). This is similar to the finding of Wilson and others that ebeam or gamma irradiation of soybeans at 10 and 30 kGy decreased the lightness (L value) and yellowness (+ b value) but increased redness (+ a value) of tofus (Wilson and others 2005). Tofus produced from IA2032LS had more yellowness (+ b value) than Vinton 81 in general. Tofus made from soybeans harvested in 2003 had higher + b value (yellowness) than tofus made from soybeans harvested in 2004 (data not shown). Considering the interaction effects of cultivar and year, yellowness (+ b value) of the tofus from each year was affected differently depend on each cultivar. This is comparable to the color data of soymilk where soymilk with more yellowness produced tofus with more yellowness.



Figure 24 (a). Influence of radiation on redness (+ a value) of tofu made from e-beam irradiated soybeans at radiation doses of 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 48).





Figure 24 (b). Interaction effects of cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) and year (2003, 2004) on yellowness (+ b value) of tofu made from e-beam irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 48).

Color of Okara

Okara, a by product of soybean production, is used as ingredient in food products to increase the fiber content. Hence, the color of okara may affect the color or appearance of the food products. Figures 25 (a), (b), (c) show the color analysis of okara. Radiation at 1 - 10 kGy decreased the lightness (L value) of the okara and increased the redness (+ a value) of the okara as the radiation doses increased (Figures 25 a and 25 b). However, it had no effect on the vellowness (+ b value) of the okara. There was significant year effect on the lightness (L value), redness (+ a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the okara (p<0.0001). Okara from soybeans harvested in 2003 has lower lightness (L value), higher redness (+ a value) and higher yellowness (+ b value) than okara from soybeans harvested in 2004. There was no difference in lightness (L value) and vellowness (+ b value) of the okara in both cultivars except okara from Vinton 81 had lower redness (+ a value) than IA2032LS in general. Crop year effect on redness (+a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of okara strongly depended on the cultivar where okara from Vinton 81 cultivar had more redness (+ a value) than okara from IA2032LS in 2004 but less redness (+ a value) in 2003 (data not shown). Significant interaction effects between year and cultivar was observed on yellowness (+ b value) of okara. Yellowness (+ b value) of the okara was higher for Vinton 81 cultivar than IA2032LS in crop year 2004 but no difference in 2003 (Figure 25 c). Color changes in okara were also observed due to cultivar (Wilson and others 2004) and due to high dose irradiation at 10 kGy and 30 kGy (Wilson and others 2005).



Figure 25 (a) and (b). Influence of radiation on (a) L value; (b) a value of okara from soymilk processing of e-beam irradiated soybeans at radiation doses of 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 48).



Figure 25 (c). Interaction effects of cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) and year (2004, 2004) on the yellowness (+ b value) of okara from soymilk processing using e-beam irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 48).

Color of Whey

Color analysis of whey from E-beam irradiated soybeans is shown in Figures 26 (a), (b) and (c). While other effects remain constant, radiation significantly affected the greenness (- a value) and the yellowness (+ b value) of the whey, but did not affect the lightness (L value) of the whey. Radiation generally increased the greenness (- a value) and decreased the yellowness (+ b value) of the whey produced. Both year and cultivar significantly affected the lightness (L value), greenness (- a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whey. Whey from IA2032LS had more lightness (L value), greenness (- a value) and yellowness (+ b

74

value) than whey from Vinton 81. Soybeans from 2003 produced whey with slightly higher lightness (L value), greenness (- a value) and yellowness (+ b value) than whey from soybeans harvested in 2004. Data discussed above was not shown. Statistical analysis indicated the significant interactions between radiation and year effects as well as year and cultivar effects on the lightness (L value), greenness (- a value) and yellowness (+ b value) of the whey (p<0.001). Only interaction effects between radiation and year on lightness (L value) of whey is shown (Figure 26 a). Radiation increased the lightness (L value) of whey produced from 2004 soybeans as radiation dose increased, but lightness (L value) of whey from 2003 soybeans was increased at 1 kGy and remain after 1 kGy (Figure 26 a). Significant interaction between radiation and cultivar effects was observed on the greenness (- a value) and yellowness (+ b value) (p<0.001). Radiation increased the greenness (- a value) of the whey from the IA2032LS cultivar but did not significantly increase the greenness (- a value) of whey from Vinton 81 cultivar after 1 kGy (Figure 26 b). Increase of greenness (- a value) in the whey may be due to some residual chlorophyll pigments being extracted into the whey due to radiation treatment, hence, increased the redness (+ a value) in the tofu (Figure 24 a). Radiation also increased the vellowness (+ b value) of whey from Vinton 81 at 1 kGy but increased yellowness (+ b value) of whey from IA2032LS at 1 and 5 kGy then decreased at 10 kGy (Figure 26 c). As a result, color of soy products and byproducts was affected by environment and condition of the soybeans, cultivars and sometimes the effect of radiation.



Figure 26 (a) and (b). (a) Interaction effects of radiation (0, 1, 5, 10 kGy) and year (2003, 2004) on the lightness (L value); (b) Interaction effects of radiation (0, 1, 5, 10 kGy) and cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) on the greenness (- a value) of whey from tofu processing using e-beam irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 24).



Figure 26 (c). Interaction effects of radiation (0, 1, 5, 10 kGy) and cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) on the yellowness (+ b value) of whey from tofu processing using e-beam irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 24).

RHEOLOGICAL EFFECTS IN SOYMILK AND TEXTURAL CHANGES IN TOFU

Effect of Irradiation on Viscosity of Soymilk

All soymilk samples were found to be newtonian fluids because the shear stress was directly proportional to shear rate without yield stress (Figure 27). Flow consistent coefficient (K) and flow behavior index (n) of the soymilk were determined based on Power's law. Averages of flow consistent coefficient (K), flow behavior index (n) and viscosity for soymilk of Vinton 81 and IA2032LS cultivars are shown in Table 21. There was significant cultivar effects and interaction effects of year and cultivar on the K value, n value and viscosity of soymilk produced from e-beam treated soybeans (p<0.0001). Soymilk produced

from Vinton 81 cultivar had higher K value and viscosity but lower n value than soymilk produced from IA2032LS cultivar (Table 21). The soymilk produced from Vinton 81 had a higher °Brix (most likely higher protein) in comparison to the soymilk from IA2032LS. Even though the variation of the flow consistent coefficient (K) and the flow behavior index (n) was very small, but it was significant enough to indicate the variability between each cultivars and crop year. Overall, the flow consistent coefficient (K) of soymilk was 0.0026 Pa·sⁿ on average, and the average flow behavior index (n) was 1.09, which is very close to 1 (indicating properties of newtonian fluid) (Table 21). Significant year effect was also observed in the flow behavior index (n) of the soymilk (p<0.05).



Figure 27. Rheological characteristics of soymilk produced from ebeam treated soybeans. Direct proportional of shear stress to shear rate indicates the Newtonian property of the soymilk.

Cultivar	°Brix	K	n	Viscosity (cP)**
Vinton 81	7.2 ^a	0.0029 ^a	1.09 ^a	1.56 ^a
IA2032LS	6.8 ^b	0.0023 ^b	1.11 ^b	1.39 ^b
Average	7.0	0.0026	1.10	1.49

Table 21. Summarized rheological properties (K, n, viscosity) of soymilk produced from soybeans irradiated at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.

* Means within a column with different letters (a, b, c) are significantly different at p<0.05 (n = 48).

** Viscosity (cP) is reported at the shear rate of 600.00 1/s.

Radiation of whole soybeans significantly affected viscosity of soymilk produced but not the flow consistent coefficient (K) and flow behavior index (n). Figure 28 shows the interaction effects of radiation and year on the viscosity of the soymilk produced from ebeam irradiated soybeans. Radiation had increased viscosity of soymilk produced from 2004 soybeans, especially at 10 kGy, but did not significantly increased the viscosity of soymilk produced from 2003 soybeans (Figure 28). The same interaction effect of radiation and year can be seen for the flow consistent coefficient (K) of the soymilk (Figure 29). Radiation affected the flow consistent coefficient (K) of soymilk differently in both years. The K value of soymilk produced from 2004 soybeans was decreased at 1 kGy but increased to the highest value at 10 kGy. In comparison to the soymilk produced from 2003 soybeans, radiation increased the K value at 1 kGy but remained consistently higher than control (0 kGy) at 5 kGy and 10 kGy. Increase in viscosity and flow consistent coefficient (K) of the soymilk due to radiation effect may be due to interaction of radiolysis products (free radicals) on the cellulose of soybeans forming shorter fragments that flow through the filter cloth during separation of okara from the soymilk. This was also observed by Wilson and others (2005) in that the okara from soybeans irradiated at 10 and 30 kGy were mushy and hard to be separated from the milk.



Figure 28. Interaction of radiation (0, 1, 5, 10 kGy) and year (2003, 2004) effects on the viscosity (cP) of soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 12).



Figure 29. Interaction of radiation (0, 1, 5, 10 kGy) and year (2003, 2004) effects on the flow consistent coefficient (K) of soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 12).

Rheological properties of the soymilk depend on the protein composition of the soybeans: its glycinin(11S)/ β -conglycinin(7S) ratio. Kim and Wicker (2005) found that soybeans with higher 11S/7S ratio produced more non-newtonian soymilk (lower flow behavior index, *n*). Soymilk produced from the Vinton 81 cultivar had lower flow behavior index (n = 1.089), indicating that it is more non-newtonian than the soymilk produced from the IA2032LS cultivar (n = 1.105). This data is similar to protein analysis of high dose study (0 - 30 kGy) that Vinton 81 had higher 11S/7S ratio than the IA2032LS (2.09 vs 1.94) (Table 22 in Appendix B).

Effect of Irradiation on Texture of Tofu

The texture of tofu produced from E-beam irradiated soybeans was analyzed for hardness, adhesiveness, springiness, cohesiveness, gumminess, chewiness, and resilience. There was significant year effect on the hardness, gumminess, chewiness and resilience of the tofus. Cohesiveness, gumminess and chewiness were significantly affected by the cultivar effect. However, effects of year, cultivar and their interactions on texture of tofu were not discussed in detailed because it is expected that the protein composition of soybeans and its subunits is different in each cultivar and may vary from year to year within each cultivar depending on the growing conditions. Significance of each effect on the textural attributes of the tofu is shown in Appendix A (Table 37).

Radiation decreased the cohesiveness and resilience of the tofus. However, there were significant interaction between radiation and cultivar on the cohesiveness and resilience of the tofu (Figures 30 and 31). Cohesiveness of the tofu made from Vinton 81 was decreased consistently but cohesiveness of tofu made from IA2032LS was slightly increased at 1 kGy and further decreased at 5 kGy and 10 kGy (Figure 30). Radiation did not decreased the resilience of the tofu made from Vinton 81 at 1 kGy and 5 kGy but significantly decreased the resilience at 10 kGy. In comparison to tofu made from IA2032LS, resilience of tofu was decreased at 5 kGy (Figure 31). Wilson's study also found that irradiated soybeans at high levels (10 kGy and 30 kGy) produced tofu with softer texture, less adhesive, less springy, less cohesive, and less resilient (Wilson and others 2005). Modification of the coagulation and pressing process of the tofu could possibly be modified to mediate some of these textural changes (Wilson and others 2004b).

Various studies had shown that gelation properties of the soy globulins played significant role in hardness of the gels. Depending on proportion of the protein subunits in each cultivar, gels made from glycinin was harder than gels made from β -conglycinin (Renkema and others 2001; Rickert and others 2004; Saio and others 1969; Watanabe 1997; Yagasaki and others 2000). Differential gelling properties of the specific subunits within glycinin and β -conglycinin may also contribute to the variation in hardness of the tofu (Tezuka and others 2000; Mujoo and others 2003; Yagasaki and others 2000; Mohamad Ramlan and others 2004).



Figure 30. Interaction effects of radiation (0, 1, 5, 10 kGy) and cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) on cohesiveness of tofu made from e-beam irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 24).



Figure 31. Interaction effects of radiation (0, 1, 5, 10 kGy) and cultivar (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) on resilience of tofu made from e-beam irradiated soybeans. *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 24).



Figure 32. Cultivar effect on (a) gumminess and (b) chewiness of tofu made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS). *Note:* Error bar (\top) indicates standard error for means (n = 48).

84

Storage protein subunits in the soybeans contributed significantly to the textural and rheological properties of soy food products. Differences in protein content and protein ratio may affect the viscosity, textural properties and color of soymilk, indicating changes in quality and functionality. Kim and Wicker (2005) had shown that soybeans with higher ratio of 11S subunit produced harder, chewier and gummier tofu. Tofu produced from the IA2032LS cultivar is gummier and chewier than tofus produced from the Vinton 81 cultivar (Figures 32 a and 32 b), which is inconsistent to Kim and Wicker's finding in that the IA2032LS cultivar had slightly lower 11S/7S ratio than the Vinton 81 cultivar (Table 39 in Appendix B). Variation of the protein subunits composition may be affected due to nutritional stress during development of seeds as shown by Gayler and Skyes (1985) that sulfur deficiency in developing seeds caused a 40% decrease in glycinin and an increase in β -conglycinin.

FLAVOR AND AROMA ANALYSIS BY GAS CHROMATOGRAPHY

During manufacturing of soymilk and tofu, some observations on flavor and aroma changes were noticeable. Pleasant fresh soymilk aroma was detected during the heating step of the soy slurry produced from the control soybeans (0 kGy) but slight off-odors were detected during the processing of 1 kGy-treated soybeans. The off-aromas were increasingly strong at 5 kGy and became the worst at 10 kGy. Wilson and others (2005) found strong off-aromas in the soymilk made from high dose irradiation (10 kGy and 30 kGy) irradiated soybeans. A "wet dog" aroma of other irradiated meat products (e.g. pork, chicken, beef) was detected. A sensory study to determine the type of off-aroma and consumer acceptability of the off-aroma in the soymilk from irradiated soybeans is suggested.

The flavor profile of both normal soybeans and lipoxygenase-free soybeans were studied. With the presence of lipoxygenase, flavor compounds in soymilk made from Vinton 81 was more complicated, as more peaks were detected by gas chromatography, than soymilk from IA2032LS (lipoxygenase-free) (Figure 52 in Appendix C). Seventeen volatile compounds in the soymilk were identified including hexanal, *trans*-2-hexenal, *cis*-2-hexenal, N heptanal, *trans*-2-heptanal, 1-octenal-3-ol, 2-pentyl-furan, octanal, 2,4-heptadienal, 2-octenal, nonanal, *trans*-2-nonenal, *trans*, *trans*-2,4-nonadienal, decanal, *trans*-2-decenal, 2-hexyl furan, and *trans*, *trans*-2,4-decadienal (Figures 35 - 51 in Appendix C). Most volatiles were detected in both soybeans except that *trans*-2-nonenal was not found in soymilk from IA2032LS (Figure 46 in Appendix C). Most of the compounds determined have grassy, green, fat and rancid flavor. Table 22 shows the description of each flavor compounds as described in Flavornet (Acree & Am 2004). Amount of these different volatile compounds identified in the soymilk varied depending on the cultivars and crop year of the soybeans used.

As the radiation dose increased, the amount of flavor compounds (peak area) in soymilk produced from the lipoxygenase-free beans (IA2032LS) increased, especially hexanal, which is the major contributor to the grassy and beany flavor of the soymilk (Figure 33 in Appendix C). With the absence of lipoxygenase in soybeans, oxidative rancidity still occurs slowly which contributes to the low level of grassy, beany flavor in soymilk (peak area range 102-482) (Figure 33). Other volatile compounds such as trans-2-hexenal, trans-2heptanal, 1-octen-3-ol and decanal were increased in soymilk from IA2032LS as radiation dose increased. Compared to soymilk produced from the lipoxygenase-present soybeans (Vinton 81), the hexanal level was higher (peak area range 438-958) as were most of other

volatile compounds than lipoxygenase-free soybeans (Figure 34). However, irradiation seemed to decrease the amount of some volatiles determined in soymilk from Vinton 81, including hexanal, trans-2-heptanal and 1-octen-3-ol, which showed more change as radiation dose increased. This could due to the binding of these volatiles to proteins and other components in the sovmilk as well as non-covalent interactions through hydrophobic, hydrophilic, van der Waals forces (Aspelund and Wilson 1983; O'keefe and others 1991). These lipid oxidation products may have interacted with lysine residues via Michael addition reactions or alkoxyl radicals to form protein carbonyls (Refsgaard and others 2000). Meanwhile, consistent formation of minor compounds with higher polarity was observed in both soybean cultivars as the radiation dose increased. These compounds formed are speculated to be some nitrogen and sulfur containing compounds from proteins breakdown. In comparison to the dry beans lipid oxidation analysis (SafTest®), higher level of oxidation was observed in soymilk (higher production of hexanal). This is due to activation of enzymes through soaking of the soybeans and release of enzymes via disruption (grinding) of the natural compartmentalization (which protects the lipids from enzymes reactions) thus resulting in higher levels of lipid oxidation products in soymilk. In addition, Vitamin E (antioxidant) itself was being destroyed once the beans were ground and exposed to oxygen, hence, low level of antioxidative capacity was expected in the soymilk that results in high level of oxidation products. Loss of vitamin E was also observed in processing of soybeans into tofu (Guzman and Murphy 1986).

Volatile compound	Retention Time	Description	
hexanal	7.600	Grass, tallow, fat	
trans-2-hexenal	10.100	Apple, green	
cis-2-hexenal	10.900	+	
N heptanal	12.400	Fat, citrus, rancid	
trans-2-heptanal	15.200	Green	
1-Octenal-3-ol	16.200	Mushroom	
2-pentyl-furan	16.600	Green bean, butter	
octanal	17.369	Fat, soap, lemon, green	
2,4-heptadienal	17.835	Nut, fat	
2-octenal	19.900	Green	
nonanal	22.000	Soap, plastic	
trans-2-nonenal	24.452	Cucumber, fat, green	
trans, trans-2,4-nonadienal	25.936	Watermelon	
decanal	26.361	Soap, orange peel, tallow	
trans-2-decenal	28.286	Tallow	
2-hexyl furan	29.153	÷	
trans, trans-2,4-decadienal	29.700	Fried, wax, fat	

Table 22. Flavor description of volatile compounds determined in soymilk.

Source: Acree T, Am H. 2004. Flavornet. Geneva, NY: DATU Inc.



Figure 33. Flavor compounds determined in soymilk produced from E-beam irradiated IA2032LS cultivar (lipoxygenase-free cultivar). 1: Hexanal; 2: *Trans*-2-hexenal; 3: *Cis*-2-hexenal; 4: N heptanal; 5: *Trans*-2-heptanal; 6: 1-0ctenal-3-ol; 7: 2-pentyl-furan; 8: Octanal; 9: 2,4-heptadienal; 10: 2-octenal; 11: Nonanal; 12: *Trans*-2-nonenal; 13: *Trans*,*trans*-2,4-nonadienal; 14: Decanal; 15: *Trans*-2-decenal; 16: 2-hexyl furan; 17: *Trans*,*trans*-2,4-decadienal.



Figure 34. Volatile compounds determined in soymilk produced from e-beam irradiated Vinton 81 cultivar (lipoxygenase-present cultivar). 1: Hexanal; 2: *Trans*-2-hexenal; 3: *Cis*-2-hexenal; 4: N heptanal; 5: *Trans*-2-heptanal; 6: 1-0ctenal-3-ol; 7: 2-pentyl-furan; 8: Octanal; 9: 2,4-heptadienal; 10: 2-octenal; 11: Nonanal; 12: *Trans*-2-nonenal; 13: *Trans*,*trans*-2,4-nonadienal; 14: Decanal; 15: *Trans*-2-decenal; 16: 2-hexyl furan; 17: *Trans*,*trans*-2,4-decadienal.

CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

SUMMARY

- Proximate composition of soybeans was different depending on its cultivar and harvested year.
- A similar vitamin E content was observed in the dry whole soybeans of both Vinton 81 and IA2032LS cultivars, while surface irradiation of soybeans did not significantly affect the Vitamin E content in whole soybeans at doses of 1-10 kGy.
- A higher isoflavone content was observed in the IA2032LS cultivar compared to Vinton 81 cultivar. E-beam radiation at 1-10 kGy did not significantly affect the isoflavone content of the dry whole soybeans.
- No significant effect of radiation (1-10 kGy) was observed on the antioxidative capacity in soybeans, but cultivar and harvest year affected the antioxidative capacity of the soybeans.
- Radiation treatment of dry whole soybeans at 1, 5, 10 kGy decreased the malonaldehyde content, but the malonaldehyde content was not correlated well to the rancid off-flavor (hexanal) in the soymilk product. After grinding, radiation-induced off-odor was detected in soymilk from irradiated soybeans. Lipid oxidation was shown to be affected by the soybean cultivars and crop year as well as its storage duration or shelf life of the soybeans.
- E-beam irradiation of soybeans at dose levels of 1, 5, 10 kGy did provide microbial safety for the astronauts but surviving yeasts and molds were found at 1 kGy.

- The germination ability of the soybeans was significantly affected by irradiation. The normal germination percentage decreased as the radiation dose increased. Initial seed quality of the soybean cultivars also played a significant role in seed germinating ability (stone bean content).
- Radiation increased the water absorption of the soybeans. IA2032LS soybeans from crop year 2003 had the lowest water absorption ability due to the presence of 'stone beans'.
- Surface irradiation of the soybeans did not significantly change the yield of soymilk and tofu. Soymilk yield varied due to the harvest year but not cultivar. Cultivar played a significant role in tofu yield even though it was not significant in soymilk yield.
- Radiation at 1-5 kGy did not affect the color of whole dry soybeans, but it induced color changes in soymilk, tofu, okara and whey. Irradiation of whole dry soybeans was shown to decrease lightness (L value) of okara, but it had no effect on lightness of soymilk, tofus and whey. Redness (a value) of the tofus and okara increased due to radiation where as greenness (-a value) of soymilk decreased and greenness of whey increased. Yellowness of soymilk, tofus and whey was reduced due to radiation effect. The color of the soyfood products was highly dependent on cultivar and harvest year.
- No significant radiation effect was observed on the viscosity and flow consistent coefficient of the soymilk produced from the soybeans treated at 1 and 5 kGy, but a significant increase in both factors was observed at the radiation dose of 10kGy.
- Surface irradiation of whole soybeans decreased the cohesiveness and resilience of tofu, but did not affect other attributes (hardness, adhesiveness, springiness,

gumminess and chewiness). The radiation effect on the textural properties of the tofus varied depending on the cultivar and year harvested. Vinton 81 cultivar produced tofus with higher cohesiveness, gumminess and chewiness than tofus from the IA203LS cultivar.

Identification of volatile compounds by GC-MS confirmed the presence of lipid oxidation compounds in the soymilk produced from irradiated soybeans. More volatile compounds were produced in the lipoxygenase-present soybeans (Vinton 81) than in the lipoxygenase-free soybeans (IA2302LS). Hexanal concentration was lower in soymilk from lipoxygenase-free soybeans (IA2032LS) than soymilk from lipoxygenase-presence soybeans (Vinton 81). Radiation increased the generation of hexanal in the lipoxygenase-free soybeans, but even with the observed reduction of hexanal due to flavor binding in the lipoxygenase-present soybeans, the hexanal level of Vinton 81 soymilk remained higher than the hexanal in soymilk made from the lipoxygenase-free soybeans.

CONCLUSIONS

E-beam irradiation of bulk soybeans at 1, 5, 10kGy affected the quality of the soybeans and its products by darkening soymilk and tofu color, reducing the seed germination ability, and increasing off-aromas. Radiation at 1, 5, 10 kGy also increased the water absorption of the seeds and altered the texture of the soymilk and tofus. Irradiation increased the oxidative rancidity compounds in the lipoxygenase-free soybeans but reduced the hexanal level (grassy and beany flavor) in soymilk produced from regular soybeans, however, hexanal was still higher than in the lipoxygenase-free soybeans. This leads to answers to the hypotheses of this study:

(1) Radiation and storage conditions, prior to and during transit to Mars, interact but did not decrease the amount of natural antioxidants in the soybeans. No lipid oxidation was induced in the dry whole soybeans but the oxidation process was accelerated after hydration and grinding of the treated soybeans, which resulted in oxidative rancidity compounds in its products (soymilk and tofu). The yield of soybeans was not affected by radiation but quality was affected.

(2) Radiation at 1-10kGy altered the germination rate of the soybeans.

Different types of radiation (x-ray, gamma ray, protons, etc.) may cause different effects on the functionality and quality of soyfood products. Soybeans cultivars and their storage conditions should be considered prior to shipping to Mars so that the highest quality cultivars can be selected and then be stored under optimum conditions (dry, low temperature storage and protected from light). Appropriate shielding for the soybeans as well as the astronauts during Mars missions needs to be developed to protect them from radiation damage. A high protein lipoxygenase-free cultivar similar to IA2032LS should be selected for long term missions to give maximum yield and desirable sensory quality. A sensory evaluation panel needs to be conducted to determine the detectable limits and acceptability of the off-flavor in the soyfood products. Flavor masking maybe needed for soyfoods produced from soybeans treated at higher doses (5kGy and 10kGy). While irradiation to provide microbial safety for the astronauts can be accomplished by applying this HACCP step as a critical control point (CCP) (irradiation), the sensory properties of products made from these soybeans has been compromised. Likewise, this CCP will prevent the soybeans from being successfully grown on Lunar and Mars missions. Counter measures could include vacuum packaging, nitrogen flushing, adding antioxidants, and radiating under freezing conditions. Doses below 1kGy need to be further investigated to determine the influence of the radiation encountered during Mars missions.

REFERENCES CITED

- AACC. Approved Method 86-06. Determination of vitamins A (retinol) and E (alphatocopherol) in foods by liquid chromatography.
- Acree T, Am H. 2004. Flavornet. Geneva, NY: DATU Inc. http://www.flavornet.org

Ahmad JI. 1995. Food irradiation-facts and fiction. MCB University Press 3: 29-32.

- Anderson JW, Johnstone BM, Cook-Newell ML. 1995. Meta-analysis of the effects of soy protein intake on serum lipids. N Engl J Med 333:276.
- Anonymous. 1981. Wholesomeness of irradiated food: A report of a joint FAO/IEAE/WHO expert committee on food irradiation. WHO Technical Report Series, 659. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- Anthon GE, Barrett DM. 2001. Colorimetric method for the determination of lipoxygenase Activity. J Agric Food Chem 49:32-37.
- Arai S, Koyanagi O, Fujimaki M. 1967. Studies on flavor components in soybean. Part IV. Volatile neutral compounds. Agric Biol Chem 31: 868-873.
- Arai S, Noguchi M, Kurosawa S, Kato H, Fujimaki M. 1970. Applying proteolytic enzymes on soybean. 6. Deodorization effect of aspergillopeptidase A and debittering effect of *Aspergillus* acid carboxypeptidase. J Food Sci 35: 392–395.
- Arai S, Suzuki H, Fujimaki M, Sakurai Y. 1966. Studies on flavor components in soybean. Part III. Volatile fatty acids and volatile amines. Agric Biol Chem 30: 863-868.
- Aspelund TG, Wilson LA. 1983. Absorption of off-flavor compounds onto soy protein: A thermodynamic study. J Agric Food Chem 31:539.
- Axelrod B, Cheesborough TM, Laasko S. 1981. Lipoxygenase were employed to further increase the accuracy of the from soybean. Meth Enzymol 71:441–451.

- Barnes S. 1998. The evolution of the health benefits of soy isoflavones. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 217:386-392.
- Barta DJ, Castillo JM, Fortson RE. 1999. The biomass production system for the Bioregenerative Planetary Life Support Systems Test Complex; Preliminary designs and considerations (paper 99012188). Paper presented at the Society of Automotive Engineers, Proceedings of the 29th International Conference on Environmental Systems, 12-15 July 1999. Denver, CO.
- Barta DJ, Henninger DL. 1994. Regenerative life support systems--why do we need them? Adv Space Res 14(11):40:3
- Bates RP, Matthews RF. 1975. Ascorbic acid and beta-carotene in soybeans as influenced by maturity, sprouting, processing and storage. Proc Fla State Hort Soc 88:266-271.
- Bennett JO. 2005. Soybean seed components as affected by nodal position, environmental conditions, and irrigation. Thesis. University of Missouri-Columbia.
- Blank G, Corrigan D. 1995. Comparison of resistance of fungal spores to gamma and electron beam radiation. Intl J Food Micro 26:269-277.
- Boatright WL, Lei Q. 1999. Compounds contributing to the beany odor of aqueous solutions of soy protein isolates. J Food Sci 64(4):667-670.
- BouÉ, Shih BY, Carter-Wientjes CH, Cleveland TE. 2005. Effect of soybean lipoxygenase on volatile generation and inhibition of Aspergillus flavus mycelial growth. J Agric Food Chem. 53: 4778-4783.
- Bourland C, Kloeris V, Rice B, Vodovotz Y. 2000. Food systems for space and planetary flights. In: Lane HW, Schoeller DA, eds. Nutrition in spaceflight and weightlessness models. New York: CRC Press 2000:19.

- Boylston TD, Wang H, Reitmeier CA, Glatz BA. 2003. Effects of processing treatment and sorbate addition on the flavor characteristics of apple cider. J Agric Food Chem 51: 1924-1931.
- Britz S, Cavins J. 1993. Spectral quality during pod development modules soybean seed fatty acid desaturation. Plant Cell Environ 16: 719-725.
- Bruhn CM, Noell JW. 1987. Consumer in-store response to irradiated papayas. Food Technol 41(9): 83-85.
- Buck JW, Walcott RR, Beuchat LR. 2003. Recent trends in microbiological safety of fruits and vegetables. Online. Plant Health Progress doi:10.1094/PHP-2003-0121-01-RV.
- Byun M-W, Kang I-J. 1995. Properties of Soya Milk and Tofu Prepared with γ-Irradiated Soya Beans. J Sci Food Agric 67:477-483.
- Byun M-W, Lee J-W, Yook H-S, Jo C, Kim H-Y. 2002a. Application of gamma irradiation for inhibition of food allergy. Radiat Phys chem 63: 369-370.
- Byun M-W, Lee J-W, Yook H-S, Lee K-H, Kim H-Y. 2002b. Improvement of shelf-life stability and processing properties of meat products by gamma irradiation. Radiat Phys Chem 63: 361-364.
- Cha JY, Flores RA, Park H. 2000. Reduction of carotenoids in corn gluten meal with soy flour. Am Soc Agric Eng 43(5): 1169-1174.
- Chaudhuri SK. 2002. A simple and reliable method to detect gamma irradiated lentil (Lens culinaris Medik.) seeds by germination efficiency and seedling growth test. Radiat Phys Chem 64: 131-136.

- Cheesbrough T. 1989. Changes in the enzymes for fatty acid synthesis and desaturation during acclimation of developing soybean seeds to altered growth temperature. Plant Physiol 90: 760-764.
- Chelack WS. Borsa J. Marquardt RR. Froblich AA. 1991. Role of the competitive microbial flora in the radiation-induced enhancement of ochratoxin production by Aspergillus *alutaceus* var. *alutaceus* NRRL 3174. Appl. Environ Microbiol 57:2492-2496.
- Chemistry of Food Systems. University of British Columbia. http://www.landfood.ubc.ca/courses/fnh/410/lipids/5_8.htm
- Ching TM, Schoolcraft I. 1968. Physiological and chemical differences in aged seeds. Crop Sci 8: 407-409.
- Chow CK. 1992. Fatty acids and their health implications. Marcel Dekker: NY.
- Ciesla K, Zoltowski T, Mogilevsky LY. 1991. Detection of starch transformation under gamma irradiation by small-angle X-ray scatting. Starch/Staerke 43: 11-12.
- Cleland MR, Pageau GM. 1985. Electron versus gamma rays-alternative sources for irradiation processes. In: Food Irradiation Processing. Proceedings of a symposium held in Washington DC. March 1985. Intl Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna.
- Coward L, Barnes NC, Setchell KDR, Barnes S. 1993. Genistein, daidzein, and their betaglycoside conjugates: antitumor isoflavones in soybean foods from America and Asian diets. J Agric Food Chem 41: 1961-1967.
- Coward L, Smith M, Kirk M, Barnes S. 1998. Chemical modification of isoflavones in soyfoods during cooking and processing. Am J Clin Nutr 68(suppl):1486S-91S.
- Crawford LM, Ruff EH. 1996. A review of the safety of cold pasteurization through irradiation. Food Control 7(2):87-97.

- Crook LR, Boylston TD. 2004. Flavor characteristics of irradiated apple cider during storage: Effect of packaging materials and sorbate addition. J Food Sci 69:C557-563.
- Dauphin J-F, Saint-Lèbe LR. 1977. Radiation chemistry of carbohydrates. In: Elias PS, Cohen AJ, eds. Radiation Chemistry of Major Food Components. Elservier Scientific, Amsterdam, Chap 5. p. 131-220.
- Deeley CM. 2004. A basic interpretation of the technical language of radiation processing. Radiat Phys Chem 71:503-507.
- Deibel KE, Swanson KMJ. 2001. Cereal and Cereal Product. In: Downes FP, Ito K, eds. Compendium of methods for the microbiological examination of foods. American Public Health Association, Washington DC. p. 549-553.
- Dickson J. 2001. Radiation Inactivation of Microorganisms. In: Molins R, ed. Food Irradiation: Principles and Applications. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York.
- Diehl JF. 1990a. Biological effects of ionizing radiation in safety of irradiated foods. Marcel Dekker Inc. NY.

Diehl JF. 1990b. Safety of Irradiated Foods. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 1-7.

- Erdman JW. 2000. Soy protein and cardiovascular disease: a statement for healthcare professionals from the nutrition committee of AHA. Circulation 102: 2555-2559.
- Food and Drug Administration (FDA). 1995. Packaging and use of irradiated meats by NASA. Federal Register 60(45): 12669-12670.
- Food and Drug Administration (FDA). 1999. Food Labelling, Health Claims, Soy Proteins and Coronary Heart Disease. Fed Reg 57: 699-733.
- Fujimaki MS, Arai S, Kirigaya N, Sakurai Y. 1965. Studies on flavour compounds in soybean. Part 1. Aliphatic carbonyl compounds. Agric Biol Chem 29: 853.
- Gayler KR, Sykes GE. 1985. Effects of nutritional stress on the storage proteins of soybeans. Plant Physiol 78: 582-585.
- Grant LA, D'Appolonia BL. 1991. Effect of low-level gamma radiation on water-soluble non-starchy polysaccharides isolated from hard spring wheat flour and bra. Cereal Chem 68: 651-652.
- Guzman GJ. Murphy PA. 1986. Tocopherols of soybean seeds and soybean curd (Tofu). J Agric Food Chem 41:791-795.
- Haake. 1997. Instruction Manual RheoStress RS75 and RS150. Part No. 003-2734. 2-1-097-2/10.1997. Gebrüder HAAKE GmbH: Karlsruhe, Germany.
- Haake. 1998. List and Label Designer. Part No. 003-3290 02.1998. Gebrüder HAAKE GmbH: Karlsruhe, Germany.
- Hamilton RMG, Carroll KK. 1976. Plasma cholesterol levels in rabbits fed low fat, low cholesterol diets. Effects of dietary proteins, carbohydrates and fibre from different sources. Atheroclerosis 24:47-62.
- Hammond EG, Glatz BA. 1988. Biotechnology Applied to Fats and Oils. Food Biotechnology 2:173-217.
- Hardy CL, Rippke GR, Hurburgh Jr CR. 1996. Calibration and field standardization of Foss
 Grainspec analyzers for corn and soybeans. In: Davies AMC, Williams P, editors.
 Near Infrared Spectroscopy: The Future Waves. Proceedings of the 7th International
 Conference on Near Infrared Spectroscopy, Montreal, Canada, Aug 6-11, 1995. West
 Sussex, United Kingdom: NIR Publications. P 132-141.
- Harman GE, Mattick LR. 1976. Association of lipid oxidation with seed aging and death. Nature 260: 323-324.

- Heydecker W. 1972. Vigour. In: Robert EH, ed. Viability of Seeds. Chapman and Hall, London 209-252.
- Hildebrand DF, Kito M. 1984. Role of lipoxygenases in soybean seed protein quality. J Agric Food Chem 32: 815-819.
- Hoeck JA, Ferh WR, Murphy PA, Welke GA. 2000. Influence of genotype and environment on isoflavone contents of soybean. Crop Sci 40:48-51.
- Huang Y, Hua Y, Qiu A. 2006. Soybean protein aggregation induced by lipoxygenase catalyzed linoleic acid oxidation. Food Research International 39: 240-249.
- Iowa State University Seed Testing Laboratory. Ames, IA. http://www.seeds.iastate.edu/seedtest/test/index.html
- Jiang Q, Christen S, Shigenaga MK, Ames BN. 2001. γ-Tocopherol, the major form of vitamin E in the US diet, deserves more attention. Am J Clin Nutr 74: 714-22.
- Johnson LD, Wilson LA. 1984. Influence of soybean variety and method of processing in tofu manufacturing: comparison of methods for measuring soluble solids in soymilk. J Food Sci 49 1:202-204.
- Josephson ES. 1983. An Historical Review of Food Irradiation. J Food Safety 5:161-165.
- Kamat A, Pingulkar K, Bhushan B, Gholap A, Thomas P. 2003. Potential application of low dose gamma irradiation to improve the microbiological safety of fresh coriander leaves. Food Control 14: 529-537.
- Kang IJ, Byun MS. 1996. Development of modified starch by gamma irradiation. Korean J Food Sci Technol 28: 514.
- Karel M. 1989. The future of irradiation applications on earth and in space. Food Technology 43(7):95-97.

- Kennedy AR. 1995. The evidence of soybean products as cancer preventive agents. J Nutr 125:7338.
- Kim Y, Wicker L. 2005. Soybean cultivars impact quality and function of soymilk and tofu. J Sci Food Agric 85: 2514-2518.
- Klicka MV, Smith MC 1982. Food for U.S. manned space flight. Technical report Natick TR82/019. Natick, MA: US Army R&D Center.
- Knapp FW, Tappel AL. 1961. Comparison of the radiosensitivities of the fat-soluble vitamins by gamma irradiation. Agric Food Chem 9: 430-433.
- Lee SJ, Ahn JK, Kim SH, Kim JT, Han SJ, Jung MY, Chung IM. 2003. Variation in isoflavone of soybean cultivars with location and storage duration. J Agric Food Chem 51:3382-3389.
- Lee and Shibamoto. 2000. Antioxidant properties of aroma compounds isolated from soybeans and mung beans. J Agric Food Chem 48: 4290-4293.
- Liu K. 2004a. Soybeans as a powerhouse of nutrients and phytochemicals. In: Liu K, ed. Soybeans as Functional Foods and Ingredients. Champaign, IL: AOCS Press.
- Liu K. 2004b. Edible soybean products in the current market. In: Liu K, ed. Soybeans as Functional Foods and Ingredients. AOCS Press: Champaign, IL. p 23-51.
- Liu KS. 2001. Modifying Soybean Oil through Plant Breeding and Genetic Engineering. In: Wilson RL, ed. World Oilseed Conference Proceedings. AOCS Press. p 84-89.
- Lolas GM, Palamidas N, Markakis P. 1976. The phytic acid-total phosphorus relationship in barley, oats, soybeans and wheat. Cereal Chem 53:876.
- Maga JA. 1973. A review of flavor investigations associated with the soy products raw soybeans, defatted flakes and flours and isolates. J Agric Food Chem 21(5):864.

- Manjaya JG, Suseelan KN, Gopalakrishna T, Pawar SE, Bapat VA. 2006. Radiation induced variability of seed storage proteins in soybeans [*Glycine max* (L.) Merrill]. In Press.
- Martin MJ, Hulley SB, Browner WS, Kuller LH, Wentworth D. 1986. Serum cholesterol, bood pressure, and mortality: implications from a cohort of 361,662 men. Lancet 2:933-936.
- Matoba T, Hidaka H, Narita H, Kitamura K, Kaizuma N, Kito M. 1985. Lipoxygenase-2 isozyme is responsible for generation of *n*-hexanal in soybean homogenate. J Agric Food Chem 33:853-855.
- Mohamad Ramlan BMS, Maruyama N, Takahashi K, Yagasaki K, Higasa T, Matsumura Y. 2004. Gelling properties of soybean β-conglycinin having different subunit compositions. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 68: 1091–1096.
- Moizuddin S, Buseman G, Fenton AM, Wilson LA. 1999a. Tofu production from soybeans or full-fat soyflakes using direct and indirect heating processes. J Food Sci 64:145-148.
- Moizuddin S, Johnson LD, Wilson LA. 1999b. Rapid method for determining optimum coagulant concentration in tofu manufacture. J Food Sci 64:684-687.
- Molins RA. 2001. Introduction. In: Molins RA, ed. Food irradiation: principles and applications. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York. p 1-21.
- Moriyama TK, Kishimoto K, Nagai K, Urade R, Ogawa T, Utsumi S, Maruyama N, Maebuchi M. 2004. Soybean beta-conglycinin diet suppresses serum triglyceride levels in normal and genetically obese mice by induction of beta-oxidation, down regulation of fatty acid synthase, and inhibition of triglyceride absorption. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 68:352-359.

- Mujoo R, Trinh DT, Ng P. 2003. Characterization of storage proteins in different soybean varieties and their relationship to tofu yield and texture. Food Chem 82: 265–273.
- Mullin WJ, Xu W. 2001. Study of soybean seed coat components and their relationship to water absorption. J Agric Food Chem 49: 5331-5335.
- Nabhan GP. 2003. Arizona's Food Security, Safety and Sustainability. Center for Sustainable Environments.
- Nanz RA, Michel EL, Lachance PA. 1967. Evolution of space feeding concepts during the Mercury and Gemini space programs. Food Technol 21:52.
- Nayga RM, Aiew W, Nichols JP. 2005. Information effects on consumers' willingness to purchase irradiated food products. Rev Agric Economics 27 (1): 37-48.
- Nielsen NC. 1985. Structure of Soy Proteins. In: Altschul AM, Wilcke HL, eds. New Protein Foods. Vol 5. Seed Storage Proteins. Academic Press: Orlando, FL. p 27-64.
- Nishizawa NK, Mori S. Watanabe Y, Hirano H. 1994. Ultrastructural location of the basic 7S globulin in soybean (*Glycine max*) cotyledons. Plant Cell Physiol 35: 1079-1085.
- O'Keefe SF, Resurreccion AP, Wilson LA, Murphy PA. 1991. Temperature Effect on Binding of Volatile Flavor Compounds to Soy Protein in Aqueous Model Systems. J Food Sci 56(3): 802-806.
- Palekar MP, Cabrera-Diaz E, Kalbasi-Ashtari A, Maxim JE, Miller RK, Cisneros-Zevallos L, Castillo A. 2004. Effect of Electron beam irradiation on the bacterial load and sensorial quality of sliced cantaloupe. J Food Sci 69(9): M267-M273.
- Parrish DJ, Leopold AC. 1978. On the mechanism of aging in soybean seeds. Plant Physiol 61: 365-368.

- Patil A, Taware SP, Raut VM. 2004. Induced variation in quantitative traits due to physical (γ rays), chemical (EMS) and combined mutagen treatments in soybeans [Glycine max (L.) Merrill]. Soybean Genetics Newsletter 31: 1-6.
- Peñalvo JL, Castilho MC, Silvera MIN, Matallana MC, Torija ME. 2004. Fatty acid profile of traditional soymilk. Eur Food Res Technol 219: 251-253.
- Perchonok M, Bourland C. 2002. NASA food systems: past, present and future. Nutrition 18: 913-920.
- Perchonok M, Vittadini E, Swango B, Toerne M, Peterson L. 2001. Bioregenerative planetary life support systems test complex(BIO-Plex) food processing system; a dual task approach (paper 012312001). Paper presented at the Society of Automotive Engineers. Proceedings of the 31st International Conference on Environmental Systems, 9-12 July 2001. Orlando, FL.
- Pietta P, Mauri P. 2001. Analysis of flavonoids in medicinal plants. Methods in enzymology 335: 26-45.

Pistorius EK, Axelrod B. 1974. J Biol chem 249: 3181-3186.

- Pollard EC. 1966. Phenomenology of radiation effects on microorganisms, in Encyclopedia of Medical Radiology. Vol. 2(2), Zuppinger A, ed. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Pratt DE, Birac PM. 1979. Source of antioxidant activity of soybeans and soy products. J Food Sci 44:1720-1722.
- Prawiradjaja W. 2003. Process optimization for solid extraction, flavor improvement and fat removal in the production of soymilk from full fat soy flakes. Thesis MS. Iowa State University.

- Priestley DA, Leopold AC. 1979. Absence of lipid oxidation during accelerated aging of soybean seeds. Plant Physiol 63: 726-729.
- Pryde EH. 1980. Composition of soybean oil. In: Erickson SR, Pryde EH, Brekke OL, Mounts TL, Falb RA, eds. Handbook of soy oil processing and utilization. Am Oil Chem Soc: Champaign, IL. p13.
- Quak SH, Tan SP. 1998. Use of soy-protein formulas and soyfood for feeding infants and children in Asia. Am J Clin Nutr 68(suppl):1444S-6S.
- Rackis JJ, Sessa DJ, Honig DH. 1979. Flavor problems of vegetable food proteins. J Am Oil Chem Soc. 56: 262-271.
- Rahman SM, Takagi V, Kubota K, Miyamoto K, Kawakita V. 1994. The high oleic acid mutant in soybean induced by X-rays irradiation. Biosci Biotech Biochem 58: 1070-1072.
- Rahman SM, Takagi V, Kubota K, Miyamoto K, Kawakita V. 1995. High stearic acid soybean mutant induced by X-ray irradiation. Biosci. Biotech. Biochem 59: 922-933.
- Rawson JM. 2003. Meat and Poultry Inspection Issues. Congressional Research Service. Order Code IB10082.
- Refsgaard HHF, Tsai L, Stadtman ER. 2000. Modifications of proteins by polyunsaturated fatty acids peroxidation products. PNAS 97(2): 611-616.
- Renkema JMS, Knabben JHM, van Vliet T. 2001. Gel formation by β -conglycinin and glycinin and their mixtures. Food Hydrocolloids 15(4-6): 407–414.
- Rice-Evans CA, Miller NJ, Paganga G. 1996. Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids. Free Radical Biol Med 20: 933-956.

- Rickert DA, Johnson LA, Murphy PA. 2004. Functional properties of improved glycinin and β-conglycinin fractions. J Food Sci 69(4): 303–311.
- Roberts BE, Osborne DJ. 1973. Protein synthesis and viability in rye grains. In: Heydecker W, ed. Seed Ecology. Pennsylvania State University Press. University Park 99-114.
- Sabota SF, Lacroix M. 2002. Radiation effects on viscosimetry of protein based solutions. Radiat Phys Chem 63: 357-359.
- Sabularse VC, Liuzzo JA. Rao RM, Grodner RM. 1991. Cooking quality of brown rice as influenced by gamma-irradiation, variety and storage. J Food Sci 56: 96-98.
- Saio K, Kamiya M, Watanabe T. 1969. Food processing characteristics of soybean 11S and 7S proteins. Agric Biol Chem 33: 1301–1308.

Saio K. 1976. Soybeans resistant to water absorption. Cereal Foods World 21: 168-173.

- Sakkar KK, Hossain M. 1984. Effects of irradiation on germination and other characters in soybean *Glycine max*. Environ Ecol 2(2):123-126.
- Schaafsma G. 2000. The protein digestibility-corrected amino acid score. J Nutr 130: 1865S-1867S.
- Setchell KDR, Cassidy A. 1999. Dietary isoflavones: Biological effects and relevance to human health. J Nutr 129:758S-767S.
- Shi H, Noguchi N, Niki E. 2001. Galvinoxyl method for standardizing electron and proton donation activity. Methods in enzymology 335: 157-166.
- Siedow JN. 1991. Lipoxygenase: structure and function. Annu Rev Plant Physiol. Plant Mol Biol 42: 145-88.

Simic MG. 1983. Radiation chemistry of water-soluble food components. In: Josephson ES, Peterson MS, eds. Preservation of food by ionizing radiation. Vol 2. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press. Chap 1. p 1-73.

- Simontacchi M, Caro A, Fraga CG, Puntarulo S. 1993. Oxidative stress affects α-tocopherol content in soybean embryonic axes upon imbibition and following germination. Plant Physiol 103: 949-953.
- Sirtori CR, Agradi E, Conti F, Mantero O, Gatti E. 1997. Soybean-protein diet in the treatment of type-II hyperlipoproteinemia. Lancet 1:275-7.
- Snyder JM, King JW. 1994. Analysis of volatile compounds from supercritical extracted soybeans by headspace gas chromatography and thermal desorption of a polymer adsorbent. J Sci Food Agric 64: 257-263.

Sokhey AS, Hanna MA. 1993. Properties of irradiated starches. Food Struct 12: 397-410.

- Song T, Barua K, Buseman G, Murphy P. 1998. Soy isoflavone analysis: quality control and a new internal standard. Am J Clin Nutr 68(suppl): 1474S-9S.
- Soy StatsTM. 2005. The American Soybean Association. http://www.soystats.com/2005/Default-frames.htm

Soyatech, Inc. 2004. Soya and Oil Bluebook. Bar Harbor, Maine.

- Spence LA, Lipscomb ER, Cadogan J, Martin BR, Peacock M, Weaver CM. 2002. Effects of soy isoflacones on calcium metabolism in postmenopausal women. J Nutr 132: 581S.
- St. Angelo AJ, Kuck JC, Ory RL. 1979. Role of lipoxygenase and lipid oxidation in quality of oilseeds. J Agric Food Chem 27(2):229-234.
- Steffe JF. 1996. Introduction to Rheology. In: Steffe JF, ed. Rheological methods in food process engineering. Freeman Press: East Lansing, MI. p 1-93.

- Stephenson TJ, Anderson JW, Jenkins DJ, Kendall C, Fanti P. 2002. Beneficial effects of soy protein use on renal function in young type I diabetic subjects with early diabetic nephropathy. J Nutr 132: 585S.
- Stewart EM. 2001. Food irradiation chemistry. In: Molins RA, ed. Food irradiation: principles and applications. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 37-76.
- Sung W-C. 2004. Effect of gamma irradiation on rice and its food products. Radiat Phys Chem 73:224-228.
- Texture Technologies Corporation. 2005. Texture Profile Analysis. In: Bourne MC, ed. Food Texture and Viscosity: Concept and Measurement. 2nd edition. http://www.texturetechnologies.com/texture_profile_analysis.html
- Tezuka M, Taira H, Igarashi Y, Yagasaki K, Ono T. 2000. Properties of tofus and soy milks prepared from soybeans having different subunits of glycinin. J Agric Food Chem 48: 1111–1117.
- Toerne M, Swango B, Byford I, Perchonok M. 2001. Food processing systems for long-term planetary missions-The design of a prototype for soy processing (paper 012322).
 Proceedings of the 31st International Conference on Environmental Systems, 9-12 July 2001. Orlando, FL.
- Toole EH, Hendricks SB, Borthwick HA, Toole VK. 1956. Physiology of seed germination. Annu Rev Plant Physiol 7: 299-324.
- Torres-Penaranda AV, Reitmeier CA, Wilson LA, Fehr WR, Narvel JM. 1998. Sensory characteristics of soymilk and tofu made from lipoxygenase-free and normal soybeans. J Food Sci 63(6):1084–1087.

- US GIPSA Approves Foss Infratec Model 1229 for Oil, Protein. 1999. GEAPS In-Grain Online. Grain Elevator and Processing Society 19(2). http://www.geaps.com/ingrain/99/feb99_gov_affairs6.cfm
- Villiers TA. 1973. Ageing and the longevity of seeds. In: Heydecker W, ed. Seed Ecology. Pennsylvania State University Press. University Park. 265-288.
- Wald NJ, Hilary C, Watt MRL, Donald GW, Joseph M, John MS. 1998. Homocysteine and schemic heart disease. Results of a prospective study with implications regarding prevention. Arch Intern Med 158: 862-867.
- Wang CY, Wixon R. 1999. Phytochemicals in soybeans and their potential health benefits. Inform 10(4): 315-321.
- Wang H-J, Murphy PA. 1994. Isoflavone composition of American and Japanese soybeans in Iowa: effects of variety, crop year and location. J Agric Food Chem 42: 1674-1677.

Wang XL. 1997. Chinese Soybean Products. China Light Industry Publisher, Beijing, China.

Watanabe T. 1997. Science of tofu. Kyoto, Japan: Food Journal Co. Ltd.

- Watanabe T, Fukamachi E, Nakayama O, Teremachi T, Abe K, Seruga S, Miyagana S. 1964. Research into the standardization of the tofu making process. National Food Institute Reports (Japan). Part 1-3.
- Watkins TR, Pandya K, Mickelsen O. 1985. Urinary acid and calcium excretion. Effect of soy versus meat in human diets. In: Nutritional Bioavailability of Calcium, Kies C, editor. American Chemical Society: Washington DC.
- Wen H-W, Chung H-P, Chou F-I, Lin I, Hsieh PC. 2006. Effect of gamma irradiation on microbial decontamination, and chemical and sensory characteristic of lycium fruit. Radiat Phys Chem 75(5): 596-603.

- White PJ, Xing Y. 1997. Antioxidants from cereals and legumes. In: Shahidi F, Ed. Natural antioxidants: chemistry, health effects, and applications. AOAC Press: Champaign, IL. p 25-63.
- Wilson LA, Kuan JYL, Sterner A. 2004a. Antioxidant Detection and Soybean Storage for Planetary Outposts. 34th International Conference on Environmental Systems (ICES), Colorado Spring, CO, July 19-22, 2004. ICES Manuscript #2004-01-2564. 10 pp.
- Wilson LA, French SJ, Perchonok M. 2005. Use of Irradiation as a HACCP, CCP Step for Bulk Soybeans Prior to Their Transit to Mars: Influence on Microbial Load, Functional Properties, and Yield of Soymilk and Tofu. 35th International Conference on Environmental Systems (ICES) Rome, Italy July 9-12, 2005. ICES Manuscript #2005-01-2925. 14pp.
- Wilson LA, Zehr A, French SJ, Perchonok M. 2004b. Soymilk and Tofu Processing On Mars: Can We Really STOW It? 34th International Conference on Environmental Systems (ICES), Colorado Spring, Co, July 19-22, 2004. ICES Manuscript #2004-01-2523. 16pp
- Wilson LA. 1995. "Soyfoods" in Practical Handbook of Soybean Processing and Utilization. Chapter 22. Erickson DR, Editor. AOCS Press and USB Press, St. Louis, MO. pp 428-459.
- Wilson LA. 1996. Comparison of lipoxygenase-null and lipoxygenase containing soybeans for foods. In: Piazza G, ed. Lipoxygenase and lipoxygenase pathway enzymes. Champaign, IL: Am Oil Chem Soc Press. p 209–222.
- Wilson LA. 2003. NASA Faculty Fellowship Program Report. Chapter 20. American Society for Engineering Education, Washington, DC.

- Wilson LA. 2004. NASA Faculty Fellowship Program Report. Chapter 22. American Society for Engineering Education, Washington, DC.
- World Health Organization. 1999. High-dose irradiation: Wholesomeness of food irradiated with doses above 10 kGy. WHO technical report series 890.
- Wu D, Shu Q, Wang Z, Xia Y. 2002. Effect of gamma irradiation on starch viscosity and physicochemical properties of different rice. Radiat Phys Chem 65: 79-86.
- Yagasaki K, Kousaka F, Kitamura K. 2000. Potential improvement of soymilk gelation properties using soybean with modified protein subunit compositions. Breeding Sci 50: 101–107.
- Zarkadas CG. Yu Z, Voldeng HD, Minero-Amador A. 1993. Assessment of the protein quality of a new high-protein soybean cultivar by amino acid analysis. J Agric Food Chem 41:616-623.
- Zasypkin DV, Lee T-C. 1999. Food processing on a space station: feasibility and opportunities. Life Support Biosphere Sci 6:39-52.

Zeisel S, Blusztain J. 1994. Choline and human nutrition. Annu Rev Nutr 14:269-296.

Table 23. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on composition (moisture, protein, oil, fiber) of e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

	$Pr > F^*$			
Effect	Moisture	Protein	Oil	Fiber
Radiation	0.3655	0.6089	0.6235	1.0000
Year	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Cultivar	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	1.0000
Radiation: Year	0.2859	0.9181	0.5977	0.1811
Radiation: Cultivar	0.2440	0.5657	0.6308	1.0000
Year: Cultivar	0.0202	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001

* P<0.05 indicates the significance of each effect and its interactions.

Table 24. R	adiation,	year and	cultivar	effects	on vitami	nΕ
content of e	-beam in	adiated v	vhole dry	soybe	ans.	

Effect	Pr > F *
Radiation	0.3405
Cultivar	0.3059
Radiation: Cultivar	0.9693

* P<0.05 indicates the significance of each effect and its interactions.

Table 25. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on isoflavone content (total daidzein, total glycitein, total genistein, total isoflavone) of e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

Sector Providence	$Pr > F^*$				
Effect	Total Daidzein	Total Glycitein	Total Genistein	Total Isoflavone	
Radiation	0.0279	0.0011	0.1858	0.0667	
Cultivar	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
Radiation: Cultivar	0.0186	0.0005	0.6392	0.0761	

Effect	Pr > F *	
Radiation	0.5996	
Year	< 0.0001	
Cultivar	0.1236	
Radiation: Year	0.5040	
Radiation: Cultivar	0.8367	
Year: Cultivar	<0.0001	

Table 26. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on antioxidant capacity of e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

* P<0.05 indicates the significance of each effect and its interactions.

Table 27. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on lipid oxidation (malonaldehyde content, peroxide value, free fatty acid) of e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

Effect		Pr > F*	
	Malonaldehyde content	Peroxide Value	Free Fatty Acid
Radiation	0.0892	0.3866	0.0085
Year	< 0.0001	0.1513	< 0.0001
Cultivar	0.0204	0.2575	< 0.0001
Radiation: Year	0.9614	0.3549	0.0603
Radiation: Cultivar	0.0968	0.8741	0.0260
Year: Cultivar	0.7200	0.0350	0.0008

* P<0.05 indicates the significance of each effect and its interactions.

Table 28. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on germination ability of e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

	$\Pr > F^*$		
Effect	Normal	Abnormal	Dead
Radiation	0.0003	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Year	< 0.0001	0.6942	< 0.0001
Cultivar	< 0.0001	0.0679	< 0.0001
Radiation: Year	0.0024	0.1532	0.0193
Radiation: Cultivar	0.0001	0.0133	0.0525
Year: Cultivar	0.0629	0.0689	0.0014

Effect	Pr > F *
Radiation	0.0024
Year	< 0.0001
Cultivar	< 0.0001
Radiation: Year	0.4268
Radiation: Cultivar	0.0510
Year: Cultivar	<0.0001

Table 29. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on water absorption of e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

* P<0.05 indicates the significance of each effect and its interactions.

Table 30. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on the yield of soymilk and tofu (soymilk basis, dry bean basis) produced from e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

Effect		Pr > F *	
	Soymilk Yield	Tofu Yield ^a	Tofu Yield ^b
Radiation	0.1726	0.6273	0.4906
Year	0.0156	0.6781	0.2765
Cultivar	0.0853	0.0553	0.0017
Radiation: Year	0.2317	0.4421	0.6996
Radiation: Cultivar	0.1679	0.3432	0.7813
Year: Cultivar	0.2609	0.1296	0.9225

* P<0.05 indicates the significance of each effect and its interactions.

^aTofu yield based on initial amount of soymilk.

^bTofu yield based on initial amount of dry beans.

Table 31. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on color (Hunter L, a, b) of e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

Effect		$Pr > F^*$	
	L	a	b
Radiation	0.5449	0.0732	0.4547
Year	0.1148	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Cultivar	< 0.0001	0.4113	0.2271
Radiation: Year	0.6636	0.9369	0.1874
Radiation: Cultivar	0.2965	0.2465	0.1781
Year: Cultivar	0.0082	0.0001	0.0001

Effect		$Pr > F^*$	
ALC: NOT	L	a	b
Radiation	0.5006	0.0007	< 0.0001
Year	0.7590	0.1277	< 0.0001
Cultivar	0.0003	0.0211	< 0.0001
Radiation: Year	0.0677	0.1331	0.0745
Radiation: Cultivar	0.7541	0.5627	0.0030
Year: Cultivar	0.0983	0.3556	0.0001

Table 32. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on color (Hunter L, a, b) of soymilk made from e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

* P<0.05 indicates the significance of each effect and its interactions.

Table 33. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on color (Hunter L, a, b) of tofu made from e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

Effect		$Pr > F^*$	
	L	а	b
Radiation	0.9761	0.0037	< 0.0001
Year	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Cultivar	0.0048	0.9857	< 0.0001
Radiation: Year	0.5339	0.0719	0.1679
Radiation: Cultivar	0.4343	0.9539	0.1918
Year: Cultivar	0.2292	0.1181	0.0048

* P<0.05 indicates the significance of each effect and its interactions.

Table 34. Ra	diation, year	and cultivar	r effects on	n color ((Hunter I	., a, b)) of (okara
produced fro	m e-beam in	radiated who	le dry soy	beans.				

Effect		Pr > F *	
	L	a	b
Radiation	0.0025	0.0004	0.6042
Year	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Cultivar	0.0696	0.0011	0.9735
Radiation: Year	0.3785	0.0812	0.3571
Radiation: Cultivar	0.1341	0.7289	0.6517
Year: Cultivar	0.1622	< 0.0001	< 0.0001

Effect		$Pr > F^*$		
Sold A	L	а	b	
Radiation	0.7433	0.0010	< 0.0001	
Year	0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
Cultivar	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.0002	
Radiation: Year	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
Radiation: Cultivar	0.3447	0.0008	0.0035	
Year: Cultivar	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	

Table 35. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on color (Hunter L, a, b) of whey produced from e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

* P<0.05 indicates the significance of each effect and its interactions.

Table 36. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on the rheological properties (K, n, viscosity) of soymilk made from e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

Effect	Pr > F *					
	K	n	Viscosity			
Radiation	0.0582	0.1856	0.0015			
Year	0.8225	0.0395	0.0018			
Cultivar	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001			
Radiation: Year	0.0420	0.1437	0.0326			
Radiation: Cultivar	0.7717	0.3532	0.9481			
Year: Cultivar	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001			

* P<0.05 indicates the significance of each effect and its interactions.

Table 37. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on texture of tofus (hardness, adhesiveness, springiness, cohesiveness, gumminess, chewiness, resilience) made from e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

	Pr > F*					
Effect	Hardness	Adhesivenes	s Springiness	Cohesiveness		
Radiation	0.4986	0.1701	0.4632	< 0.0001		
Year	< 0.0001	0.3104	0.4122	0.4944		
Cultivar	0.0894	0.9284	0.9599	0.0223		
Radiation: Year	0.0767	0.2251	0.4725	0.0022		
Radiation: Cultivar	0.1956	0.4502	0.1179	0.0116		
Year: Cultivar	< 0.0001	0.5300	0.0065	0.9607		
Effect	Gumn	niness	Chewiness	Resilience		
Radiation	0.1	485	0.1545	< 0.0001		
Year	< 0.0	001	< 0.0001	0.0545		
Cultivar	0.04	409	0.0436	0.1195		
Radiation: Year	0.2	558	0.2811	0.0006		
Radiation: Cultivar	0.4	187	0.3938	0.0010		
Year: Cultivar	0.0	001	0.0001	0.7203		

			Pr>	F*	1.1.1		
Effect	Hexanal	Trans-2- hexenal	Cis-	2- N- nal	heptanal	Trans-2- heptanal	
Radiation	0.0084	< 0.0001	0.71	.71	0.5280	0.0422	
Year	0.5186	0.0002	< 0.00)01 <	<0.0001	0.5575	
Cultivar	0.0062	0.0002	0.00	071	0.0546	< 0.0001	
Radiation: Year	0.1109	0.2328	0.01	49	0.6505	0.0129	
Radiation: Cultivar	0.0386	0.0012	0.96	517	0.7306	0.6617	
Year: Cultivar	0.0019	-	-		0.0078	-	
Effect	1-Octen-3-	ol 2-Penty	lfuran	Octana	l 2,4-he	ptadienal	
Radiation	0.0445	0.4	475	0.4853	0	.9670	
Year	0.0012	0.0	660	0.0014	0	.2263	
Cultivar	0.0078	<0.0	001	0.0026	0	.9552	
Radiation: Year	0.2940	0.6177		0.0402	0	0.6233	
Radiation: Cultivar	0.2157	0.5183		0.8173	0	0.3446	
Year: Cultivar	< 0.0001	0.4	464			-	
Effect	2-Octenal	enal Nonanal		Trans-2- Trans, nonenal non		<i>trans</i> -2,4-	
Radiation	0.7383	0.384	12	0.5253	0	.6008	
Year	0.0516	0.532	28	0.0218	0	.7460	
Cultivar	0.0027	< 0.000)1	< 0.0001	0	7932	
Radiation: Year 0.2456		0.4079 0.6913					
Radiation: Cultivar	0.3912	0.378	32	1.	0	.6849	
Year: Cultivar	4	0.016	53	-		-	
Effect	Decanal	Trans- decen:	2- al H	2- lexylfuran	Trans dec	<i>trans</i> -2.4- adienal	
Radiation	0.0147	0.939	2	0.7994		0.1289	
Year	0.9509	0.009	3	0.4904		0.0255	
Cultivar	0.0500	0.074	2	0.6598	<(0.0001	
Radiation: Year	0.8762	0.828	0	0.2915	1	0.0318	
Radiation: Cultivar	4	0.926	0	0.0975		0.0312	
Year: Cultivar	-	-		-	_	-	

Table 38. Radiation, year and cultivar effects on volatile compounds determined in soymilk produced from e-beam irradiated whole dry soybeans.

Soybean cultivar Vinton 81		Protein F	11S/7S ratio		
		Glycinin (11S)	β -conglycinin (7S)	2.09	
		$45.06 \pm 0.01*$	$21.56 \pm 0.02*$		
ion Gy)	0	46.82	23.14	2.02	
iati (k	10	44.16	21.68	2.04	
Rad dose	30	44.18	19.84	2.23	
IA2032LS		$45.30 \pm 0.03*$	$23.30 \pm 0.03*$	1.94	
ion Gy)	0	45.02	23.56	1.91	
liat (k	10	43.63	26.10	1.67	
Rad dose	30	47.24	20.25	2.33	

APPENDIX B: PROTEIN ANALYSIS

Table 39. Preliminary study on protein composition of soybeans (Vinton 81 and IA2032LS) treated with gamma ray at 0, 10 and 30 kGy.

* Average protein fraction of 0, 10, 30 kGy (n = 6).



APPENDIX C: FLAVOR ANALYSIS

Figure 35. Hexanal detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.



Figure 36. *Trans*-2-hexenal detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.







Figure 38. N heptanal detected in soymilk made from d-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.



Figure 39. *Trans*-2-heptanal detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.



Figure 40. 1-Octen-3-ol detected in soymilk made from E-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10kGy.



Figure 41. 2-Pentylfuran detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.



Figure 42. Octanal detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.







Figure 44. 2-Octenal detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.







Figure 46. *Trans*-2-nonenal detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.

126



Figure 47. *Trans, trans*-2,4-nonadienal detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.



Figure 48. Decanal detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.



Figure 49. *Trans*-2-Decenal detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.



Figure 50. 2-Hexylfuran detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.



Figure 51. *Trans, trans-*2,4-decadienal detected in soymilk made from e-beam irradiated soybeans (Vinton 81, IA2032LS) at 0, 1, 5, 10 kGy.





ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I also would like to express my sincere gratitude to my major professor, Dr. Lester A. Wilson, for his brilliant guidance, support, mentorship and the opportunity. Also thank you to my P.O.S committee: Dr. Cheryll A. Reitmeier for her expertise, support and guidance; Dr. Manjit K. Misra for his expertise and contribution to this study.

This study was funded by the 2004-2005 NASA Johnson Space Center Directors Grant, NASA FTCSC Seed Grant and Equipment Grant and Iowa Space Grant Consortium. Thank you to Dr. Michele H. Perchonok, Dr. Steve French, Dr. Terry Boylston, members of the NASA Food Technology Commercial Space Center (NASA FTCSC), Center of Crop Utilization and Research (CCUR), ISU Seed Laboratory, and NASA Johnson Space Center Microbiology Laboratory for their participation in this project.

I also would like to thank the Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition. I really appreciate the help and support from all staffs and faculty members. Also, special thanks to past Dr. Wilson's Labs Crew: Stanley Prawiradjaja, Miki Katayama, Jasmine Kuan and Like Yan for their friendship and guidance through my graduate study; Erik Gustafson for his assistance. Also, thank you to Hadley Wickham and Man-Yu Yum for their assistance in statistical analysis.

Lastly, I would like to thank my friends and family for their support through my hard time during the two years: Ean-Chee Ng, Natalia Weinsetel, Jose Gerde, Ileana Sala, Thong-Phang Kee, Keng-Yee Chia and Soo-Khee Chia. Also, my deepest gratitude especially to: my grandparents, my father, Chia Suan-Hooi, my uncle and aunt, Chia Seong-Fatt and Sim Ahi-Yok, and my sister, Chia Chew-Geik, who had led me through this far in life.